## **Final Report**

# **Beyond Respite: Designing Effective Wellness Programs for Carers**



# Dementia Collaborative Research Centre: Carers and Consumers







## **CONTENTS**

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	5
INVESTIGATORS	6
PURPOSE AND AIMS	7
BACKGROUND	8
METHODOLOGY	9
Narrative literature review	9
Qualitative study: interviews and focus groups with carers and care workers	9
Ethics approval	9
RESULTS	10
Literature review	10
The importance of carer health and wellness	10
Caring and its impact on wellness	12
Physical dimension	12
Intellectual / cognitive dimension	12
Social dimension	13
Spiritual dimension	14
Emotional dimension	14
Vocational / Avocational dimension	15
Conclusions arising from the literature on the impact of caring on the dimensions of welln	ess 15
Carer interventions	17
Broad issues raised in meta-analyses of interventions with carers	17
Psychosocial interventions targeted at carers	18
Respite care interventions	18
Exercise Interventions	19
Technological Interventions	20
Other findings from carer intervention studies	20
Concluding comments about carer intervention studies	21
Directions from the literature for future carer research	21
Interviews and focus groups with carers	22
Care workers	22
Carers	22
Main findings	23
The Impact of caring	23

Physical wellness dimension	24
Emotional / mental wellness dimension	25
Vocational / occupational wellness dimension	27
Intellectual wellness dimension	29
Spiritual wellness dimension	30
Social wellness dimension	31
Wellness defined by carers	32
DISCUSSION AND SYNTHESIS	34
Challenges to carers' wellness	34
Dealing with changed behaviours	34
Accessing support services	35
Support groups	37
Family dynamics of carers: factors which can determine informal support	38
Interactions with GPs and medical services	39
Other issues: Cultural and linguistically diverse issues, and elder abuse	41
Carer suggestions for achieving greater wellness	42
Addressing the wellness gaps with carers, carer families and health professionals	42
Carers	42
Carers' families	43
General Practitioners and health professionals	44
General Practitioners and dementia diagnosis	44
Informing carers about available support services and encouraging carers to access	
support and services earlier	44
Informing carers of the need to maintain their own health and wellbeing	45
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	46
Limitations of this work	46
REFERENCES	47
APPENDIX	55
Participant Information Sheet and Consent	55

### Acknowledgments

This study has been funded by the Dementia Collaborative Research Centre Carers and Consumers, Queensland University of Technology. The investigators gratefully acknowledge the carers and the care-workers who agreed to take part and who gave their time and opinions freely to the researcher.

#### Disclaimer

The views expressed in this work are the views of its author/s and not necessarily those of the Australian Government.

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

This study was conceived with the aim of adding to the body of knowledge on the wellness needs of carers, so that more effective interventions to support carers of people with dementia will be possible. It is well established in the academic literature that carer health and wellbeing is impacted by the caring role. Respite care, where the care recipient is placed in temporary care, is often cited as an opportunity for the carer to experience temporary relief from the role. However, there is mixed evidence for the effectiveness of respite for either reducing carer burden or affecting institutionalisation for the care recipient.

The project methodology had two stages. In the first stage a comprehensive review of the literature was conducted, examining the impact of caring using Hettler's six dimensions of wellness as a comprehensive model through which to examine the carers' lives; which type of interventions were most effective in supporting carers. In the second stage, qualitative in-depth interviews and focus groups were held with current and former carers and respite workers.

The literature review indicated that carers are impacted across all six of Hettler's wellness dimensions, and that effective interventions that aim to support carers in their role need to be multi-faceted.

The qualitative interviews with carers provided a comprehensive understanding of the profound impacts of being a carer in contemporary Australia. Carers identified how their role had impacted on their wellness dimensions, and identified gaps in the provision of resources and support services for carers.

The carers in the study identified a number of ways in which their wellness could be better supported. These include the following recommendations:

- Education for carers on dementia and the resources and support services they are eligible for;
- Education for carers on the need to maintain their own health and wellbeing and strategies for achieving this;
- Education for carers' families;
- Further education and training for health care professionals on recognising dementia to assist in earlier diagnosis and management;
- Education for General Practitioners on the need to recognise and support the health and wellbeing of carers.

#### **INVESTIGATORS**

#### **Chief Investigator:**

Associate Professor Christopher Poulos MB BS (Hons), MSc, PhD, FAFRM (RACP) Hammond Chair of Positive Ageing and Care, School of Public Health and Community Medicine, University of New South Wales.

#### **Associate Investigators:**

#### Professor Elizabeth Beattie RN PhD

Director, Dementia Collaborative Research Centre, School of Nursing, Faculty of Medicine, Queensland University of Technology.

Meredith Gresham BAppSci. OT (Syd Uni) Dip Arts Mus (Qld Con) A. Mus A. Senior Dementia Consultant - Research & Design, HammondCare.

**Damian Harkin** BA, MPH, Research Assistant, Clinical Training Centre, HammondCare.

#### **PURPOSE AND AIMS**

The purpose is to describe and extend the existing knowledge base in relation to understanding wellness and its relationship to carers of people with dementia and to identify areas for further research.

The aims of this project are to:

- 1. Review relevant academic and grey literature in relation to the wellness needs and experiences of carers of people with dementia;
- 2. Identify how carers define and perceive wellness;
- 3. Identify how carers' wellness is impacted by their care responsibilities;
- 4. Gain an understanding of the supports/resources carers feel would maintain and improve their wellness;
- 5. Lay a foundation for future research and practice development for carers of people with dementia through exploration of the data from this study.

#### **BACKGROUND**

This study originates from an understanding that carers of people with dementia can be impacted by the caring role. In 1969, Golodetz, et al described the challenges of being a carer for a person with a chronic illness in particularly stark terms. In the intervening years much research has been conducted with carers on the stresses that can be placed on their health and wellbeing arising from the caring role. Research also suggests that carers of people with dementia may have their health and wellbeing impacted more than carers of those with other conditions.

A considerable body of research has addressed the specific impacts of being a carer of a person with dementia (physical health, mental health, social disruption). However, there is an increasing recognition that health and wellbeing are not solely grounded in the bio-medical model. A more nuanced understanding of health has emerged in the years since the latter half of the 20<sup>th</sup> century. The WHO constitution recognised that

Health is a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity (WHO, 1948).

Furthermore, more recent research has indicated that health and wellbeing can be influenced by a complex range of factors which are often beyond the control of the individual. (Hettler, 1976; WHO, 1986 [Ottawa Charter]; Larson, 1999; Myers & Sweeney, 2004; WHO, 2003 & 2008 [Commission for the Social Determinants of Health]; Raphael, 2008).

This study seeks to understand the multiple impacts on health and wellness arising from being a carer for a person with dementia and inform the development of interventions that can support carer wellbeing.

#### **METHODOLOGY**

This project took the form of a narrative literature review and a qualitative study.

#### Narrative literature review

In preparation for a qualitative component of the study seeking to explore the wellness needs of Australian carers, a narrative literature review was undertaken to identify existing knowledge in relation to wellness and carers of people with dementia. The review filtered the carer literature through Hettler's wellness dimensions - a model which emphasises six broad and inter-related aspects of overall health: *physical*, *intellectual*, *social*, *spiritual*, *emotional* and *vocational*.

The initial search strategy included the terms *dementia*, *wellness*, *wellbeing*, *carer\**, and *caregiver\**. (The term 'carer' is used to describe the role in Australia, but the international literature uses both carers and caregivers as a descriptor. For ease of use, they will be referred to as carers, wherever possible, within this report). Databases searched were CINAHL, MEDLINE, Cochrane Library and Web of Science. Grey literature was also included in the review. Literature was limited to English language. No date limits were set in the search. The search strategy was then extended to also include literature on published interventions aimed at improving the health and wellbeing of carers of people with dementia. This latter search returned 943 articles for the period 1995-2012, reflective of the desire on the part of policy makers and health professionals to develop more effective systems of support for this population.

In addition to individual research articles, the searches also returned a number of systematic reviews and meta-analyses.

#### Qualitative study: interviews and focus groups with carers and care workers

The study envisaged recruiting 50 carers of people with dementia to understand their thoughts and experiences of 'wellness,' and to discuss their suggestions for supporting, maintaining and improving their wellness. In addition, the research team sought to recruit 20 care workers to provide some context and additional knowledge on the experiences of carers.

#### Ethics approval

Ethics approval for this study was sought from, and approved by, the Medical and Community Human Research Ethics Advisory Panel at the University of New South Wales (Ref # 2012-7-11). After preliminary consultations with stakeholders about the challenges involved in recruiting carers, it was decided to seek an ethics amendment to accommodate the recruitment of former carers as participants; and to allow for carers to participate in one-to-one interviews. These amendments were approved by the HREA (letter 21.8.12). Refer to appendix 1.

#### **RESULTS**

#### Literature review

Despite advances in the understanding of the many factors that shape health, popular experience and perceptions of health remain shaped by the bio-medical model and the importance placed on the interaction between a doctor and 'patient' in response to an illness or feeling unwell. However, health cannot be solely defined by, or limited to, disease processes that arise in an individual. Those who advocate a more nuanced, preventative approach to health understand that a complex range of factors and influences shape health, with many of these factors determined by circumstances beyond the control of the individual. This broader approach had its origins in more positive definitions of health that emerged after World War Two, culminating in the 1948 preamble to the WHO constitution which stated that

Health is a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity (WHO, 1948).

Halbert Dunn was one of the earliest proponents of what he termed 'high-level wellness' defined as

An integrated method of functioning, which is oriented toward maximizing the potential of which the individual is capable (Dunn, 1959).

Dunn's novel and more holistic approach to health has been reflected in the ongoing discourse about the meaning of health in recent decades (Hettler, 1976; WHO, 1986 [Ottawa Charter]; Larson, 1999; Myers & Sweeney, 2004; WHO, 2003 & 2008 [Commission for the Social Determinants of Health]; Raphael, 2008).

In 1976 Dr Bill Hettler released his 'six dimensions' of wellness, which were to form the philosophical base for the National Wellness Institute, which he established the following year (Hettler, 1976). His view was that optimal human health is a dynamic balance between the following health dimensions: *physical*; *intellectual*; *social*; *spiritual*; *emotional*; and *vocational*.

#### The importance of carer health and wellness

In 2009 it was estimated that over 250,000 Australians had dementia, the majority of who were being cared for by spouses or family members (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2009). Notwithstanding advances in the identification and management of risk factors for dementia at the population level, and the advent of medications to slow the rate of symptom progression in established cases, changing demographic trends and increasing life expectancy will mean that the number of people with dementia in Australia is expected to rise to nearly 1 million by midcentury. Most of these people will be cared for by family carers (Alzheimer's Australia, 2011; Xie et al., 2008).

In a particularly prescient 1969 paper, Golodetz, et al describe the lot of the carer:

She is not trained for her job, a priori. She may have little choice about doing the job. She belongs to no union or guild, works no fixed maximum of hours. She lacks formal compensation, job advancement and even the possibility of being fired. She has no job mobility. In her work situation, she bears a heavy emotional load, but has no colleagues or supervisor or education to help her handle this. Her own life and its needs compete

constantly with her work requirements. She may be limited in her performance by her own ailments (Golodetz, et al, 1969, p390).

Nearly half a century later, the lot of the carer is little different.

The value of informal caring provided by families of people with dementia in Australia is estimated to exceed AUD 5 billion *per annum* (Alzheimer's Australia / Access Economics, 2009). In some studies, it was estimated that caregiving equated to the equivalent of a half-time job (Mestheneos & Triantafillou, 2005). Informal caring allows people with dementia the opportunity to live at home for much longer than would otherwise be possible (Bruen & Howe, 2009). Moreover, informal caring affords care recipients a greater sense of independence (Sabat, 2009) and dignity than they would perhaps experience in residential care. Carers often express their commitment to the care recipient in terms of reciprocity for past care, an integral part of marital commitment, or even the realisation that they themselves might need such care in the future. Consequently, putting a care recipient into residential care is seen by many carers as the option of last resort (Peacock, et al, 2010).

However, caring for someone with a chronic illness such as dementia is complex and demanding and requires more than just providing assistance with daily living. The dyad relationship, between carer and care recipient, can become a dynamic that is characterised by almost constant care for, and often challenging behaviour from, the care recipient (De la Cuesta, 2005; George, et al, 1986; Draper, et al, 1995; O' Rourke, et al, 2003; Gusi, et al, 2009; Butcher, et al, 2001). For several decades, carers in general were described as 'hidden patients' (Fengler & Goodrich, 1979). While carers are all too aware of the demands that caring places upon them, studies have shown that carers [of loved ones with dementia] have a

High motivation to care [and a] high willingness to continue caregiving (Dohner, 2006, p10).

Importantly, deterioration in carer health can result in a care recipient having to enter institutional care (Cahill & Shapiro, 1998; Chenoweth & Spencer, 1986; Bond & Clark, 2002). From a societal perspective, supporting carers of people with dementia would seem the most sensible policy to pursue for carers, care recipients and society.

There is a considerable body of literature that discusses the health impacts and experiences of caring for someone with dementia. These often come from distinct reference points or perspectives (physical health such as injuries, mental health such as depression, etc.). While these studies contribute much understanding to the lived experiences of those who care for someone with dementia, they do not always articulate the complex reality of being a carer. There are numerous ways in which a diverse range of complex factors (social, environmental, structural, economic, etc.) and lived experiences of carers impact on their health. These are often inter-related, dynamic and synergistic. George & Gwyther (1986), for example, analysed carers' well-being through their physical health, mental health, social participation and financial resources.

#### Caring and its impact on wellness

**Physical dimension** (approximations of Hettler's dimensions are shown in *italics*).

Hettler's physical dimension recognises the need for regular exercise, a nutritious diet, and ongoing 'self-care'. The latter entails personal responsibility and care for minor illnesses, and accessing and using appropriate professional medical care when necessary. The physical benefits can also lead to psychological benefits for the individual.

The relationship between feeling 'healthy' and pursuing health promoting behaviours, such as physical exercise, smoking cessation, avoiding excess alcohol, optimal nutrition and attaining sufficient sleep, are well established in the literature (WHO, 2003 & 2008; Marmot, 2005). The exigencies of caring for people with dementia, and the ways these can impact negatively on health and limit the capacity for pursuing health promoting practices, are also well documented. Significantly, some studies suggest that caring for a person with dementia can be more demanding than other types of caring (Ory, et al, 1999; Pinquart & Sorensen, 2003). Selfcare (e.g. attending medical appointments, exercising, eating well, not missing meals or medication) is one aspect of the physical wellness dimension that carers report often having difficulty making time for, or not attending to (Burton et al, 1997; Pinquart & Sorensen, 2007; Schulz & Sherwood, 2008; Mestheneos & Triantafillou, 2005; Gusi, et al, 2009; Hirano, et al, 2011). Carers of people with dementia often experience a lack of sleep or the inability to adequately rest and recuperate. Nearly half of respondents in one study reported having their sleep disrupted three times a week or more (Creese, et al, 2008); a figure borne out by other studies (McCurry et al., 2006). Mausbach et al. (2007) found that dementia carers may be at increased risk of developing cardiovascular disease (CVD). Moreover, carers in general had modestly higher rates of mobility limitation and mortality than their non-carer counterparts (Fredman et al, 2008).

But the extent to which carers' physical health is affected by their role is still unclear. Some studies state that less than 40% of carers feel their physical health is affected by their role (Schulz & Sherwood, 2008). Other studies cite significant numbers of carers, up to 75%, reporting negative impacts on their physical health, ranging from reduced immunity, to back pain, to visits to emergency departments (Rubin & White-Means, 2009; Gusi, et al, 2009; Bauer et al, 2000; Schubert, et al, 2008).

#### Intellectual / cognitive dimension

The intellectual dimension encompasses creativity and the need to engage in stimulating cognitive activities. These can be used for personal development, education and the benefit of the community. Wellness, in this dimension, assists with problem solving, maintaining acquired skills, learning new skills and enables one to intellectually engage with family, friends and the community.

Carers of people with dementia need to maintain their cognitive functioning for two very important reasons. From a 'wellbeing', or wellness, perspective maintaining and developing cognitive skills adds value to the carers' life and offers an opportunity for personal development and taking on new challenges. The exigencies of the caring role often mean that carers may be at higher risk of cognitive impairment themselves due to factors such as

depression, loneliness, social isolation, limited exercise and diet. Carers may thus lack the time or energy to invest in maintaining or developing their cognitive skills (Vitaliano, et al, 2011).

From another perspective, it is important that carers maintain the cognitive skills that are necessary for them to meet the needs of the care recipient. This is especially important as the dementia progresses and the carer has to be able to respond to the care recipient's behaviours and needs. Carers having impaired physical and cognitive health has been cited as factors in elder abuse (Goodrich, 1997; Jogerst, et al, 2000). In a relatively recent study, 39% of a sample of 180 carers had mildly compromised cognitive function. The care recipients of those demonstrating reduced cognitive function reported being treated more frequently with abusive behaviour (Miller, et al, 2006). These findings are not unique (De Vugt, et al, 2006). Both of these perspectives demonstrate the importance of maintaining cognitive wellness for both the carer and care recipient.

#### **Social dimension**

Hettler's social dimension encourages contributing to one's community. It advocates social communication as a means of improving one's lifetime experiences. This dimension also includes a focus on the environment.

Caring for a person with dementia exerts considerable pressure upon the time and resources that are available for maintaining friendships, social contacts and support networks. Australian carers are often only able to avail themselves of a maximum of 20 hours respite care per week (K Carter & J Michailow, pers comm, 2012). The physical and mental demands of caregiving can, in many cases, leave those who want to maintain their social networks with limited inclination or energy to do so when the rare opportunity presents itself. Indeed, respite care is often utilised to undertake everyday tasks (shopping, paying bills, etc.) (Mestheneos & Triantafillou, 2005; Carter, pers comm, 2012). Thus carers often have limited opportunities to socialise with friends and family beyond the caring role (WFMH [undated]; Mestheneos, & Triantafillou, 2005; K Carter & J Michailow, pers comm, 2012; Ory, et al., 1999).

Feelings of social isolation are not uncommon in carers of both genders (Forbes, et al, 2011; Waite, et al, 2004; Russel, 2001; Pillemer & Suitor, 1992), as are depression and anxiety (Schoenmakers, et al, 2009; Schulz &Sherwood, 2008; Belle, et al, 2006; George & Gwyther, 1986; O'Rourke, et al, 2003). Mental health issues, such as stress, depression and anxiety, can be exacerbated by the isolation caused by caring, or by the progression of dementia in the care recipient. Diminishing opportunities for socialising can also influence disease outcomes. A number of models suggest social networks can both positively and negatively influence health behaviours such as smoking, diet and adherence to exercise and medication regimens (Uchino, 2006). Another important aspect of being a carer for a person with dementia is that, because the role is constant, it can change how carers perceive themselves. Being a carer can give rise to a sense of 'biographical disruption', where the social dimensions of the carer's previous life are reshaped by the changing paradigms of the dementia dyad (Hasselkus & Murray, 2007; Lawton, 2003).

#### **Spiritual dimension**

Hettler's spiritual dimension recognises the search for meaning and purpose in human existence, while acknowledging the oscillation between peaceful harmony and challenging moments.

The role of spirituality and religion in health is a source of considerable debate amongst health professionals, especially as all sides readily admit the difficulty in defining concepts which may be distinctly subjective (Doherty, 2006; Koenig, 2007). Proponents contend that spirituality and religion can be positive for health (Timio, et al, 1999; Koenig, 2007 Eckersley, 2007; Gwyther, 2006). Critics note that evidence of a positive correlation is 'weak and inconsistent', with study designs and confounders, such as diet and lifestyle factors, making it difficult to ascribe effects (Sloan, et al, 1999; Jackson, 2007) although some studies reporting a positive effect of religiosity acknowledge these limitations (Choi, et al, 2008; Rabinowitz et al., 2009). Degrees of religiosity and spirituality also vary widely across cultures and individuals. Much research has been focused on countries such as the US, where participants may be more demonstrative in their spiritual and religious practices, and thus it can be difficult to generalise these findings to other countries (Koenig, 2007).

Spirituality and religion, while not a choice for all, can provide context, purpose and meaning for life to many (Hettler, 1976), especially at difficult points in life. Despite a lack of empirical evidence, it must be noted that both spirituality and religion are often cited by both patients and carers, across a range of medical disciplines, as occupying important places in their lives and throughout their illnesses (Penman et al., 2006; Desai & Grossberg, 2011). Spirituality and religion are cited as sources of strength, comfort, resilience and support (Stuckey, 2003; Browning & Kendig, 2010; Jolley et al., 2010). Some studies have reported that carers have felt a sense of increased spiritual satisfaction, connection to their care recipients and contentment through their experiences as carers (Netto et al., 2009; Stuckey, 2003). Spirituality and religion can also perform other functions in the carer / care-recipient dyad, such as providing a familiar or ongoing shared experience such as attending church (Hasselkus & Murray, 2007).

While not explicitly stated in the literature, the practicalities of caring are likely to also impact upon the spiritual health dimension through a lack of time or resources available to attend church or to enact spiritual practices. The inability to attend shared spiritual practices (such as church or bible group) is, moreover, often an opportunity lost to socialise (K Carter & J Michailow, *pers. Comm*, 2012).

#### **Emotional dimension**

Hettler's emotional dimension recognises an awareness and acceptance of one's feelings. It also includes feeling positive and enthusiastic about one's life. This dimension covers: stress; coping/mental health resilience; access to support networks that include professional mental health care; informal support such as friends and family; and access to respite care.

The emotional health dimension is perhaps the most dynamic of those explored in this brief review. Changes in any of the other dimensions are likely to impact on carers' emotional health. Extended periods of time spent caring, lack of respite care, an inability to deal with unmet health needs or engage in intellectual activity, or an inability to relax or obtain adequate sleep can all impact negatively on emotional health. There is an extensive body of evidence that

reports how emotionally demanding caring for a person with dementia can be (Savage & Bailey, 2004; Papastavrou, et al, 2007; Leggett, et al, 2011; Perren, et al, 2006; Roepke et al, 2011).

Other common issues affecting carers' emotional health include a lack of family recognition for their efforts, having unrealistic expectations of the dyad, or self-critical perceptions about the level and quality of care they are providing (Ashworth, 2000; Mestheneos, & Triantafillou, 2005; Dohner, 2006). As noted previously, the constant demands of the role can mean carers experience 'biographical disruption' in the social wellness dimension, but these impacts are not limited to one wellness dimension; carers' former lives and sense of self can be subsumed into the role of care provision, and this has obvious impacts on their emotional wellness (Walters, et al, 2010; Hasselkus & Murray, 2007). Changes in the care recipient's personality or mood (including aggressive, inappropriate or challenging behaviours) as the dementia progresses can be a source of emotional distress for carers. Inappropriate expressions of intimacy and sexuality can be especially distressing for carers (Ward, et al, 2005).

From another perspective, carers may experience emotional benefits from their role. Many carers attest to the positive experiences they have, in spite of the demands that caring places upon them. These include opportunities to bond, re-live experiences, and feel like they are contributing to the care-recipients' quality of life (Andren & Elmstahl, 2005; Butcher et al., 2001; Peacock et al., 2010). Carers' positive emotional experiences have been posited as a way to maintain the dyad while reducing other burdens upon the carer. Highlighting the potential for interaction between the wellness dimensions, Pinquart & Sorensen (2003) reported that carers with positive emotional experiences of care provision had reduced depressive symptoms and a heightened subjective sense of wellbeing.

#### **Vocational / Avocational dimension**

Hettler's vocational / avocational dimensions emphasises satisfaction and enrichment through work or hobbies.

Having a meaningful and rewarding career can be very important for health (WHO, 2003 & 2008; Marmot, 2005; Wilkinson & Pickett, 2009). Caring can not only impact on the time available for the activities most people take for granted, such as socialising, exercising, relaxing and sleeping, it is also extremely disruptive to maintaining a career or having time for hobbies. Carers often take holiday or sick leave to look after their care recipients (Robison et al., 2009; Eldh & Carlsson, 2011; Wang et al., 2011). In one study (Ory, 1999), over half of all carers had taken time off work to provide care or perform care-related duties. O'Shea (2003) found nearly two thirds of carers had amended their work practices in order to provide care resulting in both disrupted work and financial loss. Ory et al., (1999) also reported that carers often had to forgo leisure or hobby activities: a finding that is reflected in other studies (Covinsky et al., 2001, Cahill & Shapiro, 1998; Golodetz et al., 1969).

# Conclusions arising from the literature on the impact of caring on the dimensions of wellness

It would be incorrect to assert that carers of people with dementia are always affected negatively across the dimensions of wellness discussed above. As mentioned, numerous studies report carers experiencing positive benefits from their role. However, it is also true that there is

a considerable body of evidence articulating how carer health is negatively affected by their caring. These dynamics are not mutually exclusive, and are often constant aspects of caring for someone with dementia. Carers do experience social isolation, emotional distress, depression and illness as a result of their caregiving, but in the studies examined, the majority reported that carers also assert that they are happy to continue with the role. In order to prevent the emergence of more of Fengler & Goodrich's (1979) 'hidden patients', it is incumbent upon the health profession and policy makers to develop a better understanding of the most effective interventions to support carers to maintain the health, dignity and quality of life that they deserve. This will be the focus of the next component of this narrative review.

#### Carer interventions

Recognising that caregiving for people with dementia can have a deleterious impact on carer health, carer intervention studies trialled over the last two decades have largely aimed at ameliorating or minimising the deleterious health impacts arising from care provision, and/or provide carer support services, in a format that is more convenient or reflective of carer needs.

#### Broad issues raised in meta-analyses of interventions with carers

Systematic reviews defined carer interventions in numerous ways: from 'psycho-educational, support, multi-component and other' (Parker et al., 2008) to 'psychosocial', (Van Mierlo et al., 2012; Hudson et al., 2010; Brodaty et al., 2003 & 2009), 'educational and supportive strategies' (Thinnes & Padilla, 2011), 'cognitive-behavioural therapy (CBT)' (Vernooij-Dassen & Downs, 2011), 'psycho-educational, CBT, counselling / case management, general support, respite, training for the care recipient, multi-component and miscellaneous' (Pinquart & Sorensen, 2006), and 'support groups, respite, psychosocial, multi-component, family support, psychoeducational and care co-ordination' (Eagar et al., 2007).

An overarching theme of many of these reviews, and the meta-analyses, is that interventions are often shown to be of limited benefit to carers. This is largely attributed to methodological issues (study design, heterogeneous study population, short follow up, difficulty in measuring effects, complex or ill-defined outcomes, etc.) and difficulty in measuring outcomes. As one review commented

... it is not surprising that they [reviews of interventions] draw different and conflicting conclusions (Eagar, et al., 2007).

A key factor behind the range of study findings is the diverse social and health characteristics of carers of people with dementia (reflecting the general population from which they are drawn). This diversity presents considerable challenges in comparing and evaluating interventions aimed at improving carer wellness. It cannot be assumed that interventions reporting negligible benefits for carers are ineffective. Rather, they may not be measuring accurately the benefits that carers experience, or measuring the relevant benefits experienced. As Pinquart and Sorensen (2006) point out

... there is [a] continued need for improvement in the quality of interventions.

Parker et al.'s meta-analysis (2008) provides an instructive example of the issues prevalent in analysing carer interventions. In their comprehensive review of interventions (including 34 RCTs), they noted that a wide range of outcomes were measured including depression, self-efficacy, burden, and subjective well-being. They also noted, with some surprise, that there was a dearth of studies measuring 'health' and 'quality of life' outcomes, despite carers often reporting a range of health issues associated with caregiving (Parker et al, 2008; Brodaty et al, 2003; Cahill & Shapiro, 1998). This deficit was attributed to the difficulties in conducting longitudinal studies which capture these types of data accurately, and in identifying pre-existing illnesses before the 'care trajectory' begins (Ducharme et al., 2011). Because carer interventions are so complex, involving social, medical and environmental issues and factors for both the carer and care-recipient, there are obvious challenges in applying them with the rigour and limitations of an RCT (Eagar et al., 2007).

In their review, Parker et al. (2008) found that interventions which only included referring carers to support groups, offering peer support or providing educational materials, were of limited benefit. They recommended that future studies should include outcome measures which are less 'ad hoc' and that RCTs should be well defined and have adequate follow up periods.

#### Psychosocial interventions targeted at carers

Psychosocial interventions, including education, training programs, support groups and counselling, capture a diversity of practices aimed at improving the wellbeing of carers (Brodaty et al., 2003; Pinquart & Sorensen, 2006). In a 2003 review of 34 psychosocial interventions, Brodaty et al. found carers had accrued 'modest but significant' benefits from the interventions across a range of measures. Brodaty noted that unsuccessful interventions included short-term education, support groups as the sole form of intervention, and limited duration interventions that did not include ongoing long term contact; findings also highlighted by Parker et al. in 2008. In one psychosocial intervention, carers were largely positive (90% in each arm) about a multi-strategy intervention that included carers being randomised to four programs: cognitive stimulation, dyadic counselling, dual supportive seminar and early-stage day care (Quayhagen et al., 2000). The authors acknowledged that although the programs were different, they shared a lot of similar content, making it difficult for quantitative differentiation in the assessment of effectiveness. They also noted that the relatively short duration (8 weeks) of the intervention may have limited uptake of program content, and also made longitudinal assessment impractical. These are issues which highlight the difficulty in planning and implementing interventions. In a recent review of 43 interventions, while acknowledging that the 'quality of evidence was limited', Thinnes and Padilla (2011) suggested that a multicomponent approach of support and education was of most benefit to carers. However, they again highlighted that carer burden was not defined in a standardised way making comparisons of efficacy difficult.

#### **Respite care interventions**

Increased respite care has often been posited as one of the most pressing needs of carers of people with dementia. It often comes high on lists of recommendations or policy areas for improving the quality of life of carers (Jorgensen et al., 2010; Mestheneos, & Triantafillou, 2005; Bruen & Howe, 2009; ACNS, 2011). Adequate or appropriate provision of respite care should, in theory, allow for improvements across a number of the wellness dimensions. However, previous studies have suggested that respite care may provide limited or only temporary relief to carers (Flint, 1995; Gottlieb and Johnson, 2000). Lee and Cameron, in their 2004 review of three respite care RCTs, found 'no significant effects'. However, they commented that this may not reflect a lack of benefits to carers, rather, this may be the result of a lack of high quality research in this area.

Of note is that the well regarded multi-component *Resources for Enhancing Alzheimer's Caregiver Health (REACH)* studies did not include respite care (Gitlin et al., 2003; Lund et al., 2009). The review by Parker et al. (2008) also excluded studies incorporating respite care. However, Schacke and Zank (2006) found respite care to be of some benefit in reducing specific aspects of carer burden, especially around managing work commitments. These findings, and caveats, accord with those of Mittelman et al. (2006). Eagar (2007) notes that respite care is often provided in various formats (short-term, day care, etc.) which can change the perceived

benefit. Another potential confounder is that carers make use of their respite care in very different ways, and they are not always satisfied with how that time is spent by using the time (eg. to attend to other caring duties while the care recipient is being looked after).

A recent study found that 46% of the carers surveyed were less than satisfied with their respite experiences, with this particularly applying to those who were depressed as they may not be in a position to make optimal use of the respite time (Lund et al., 2009). Therefore, respite interventions, to depressed carers, may have limited opportunities for improving their wellness. Other issues that could impact on carers accessing respite is that, within the Australian context, there are a number of respite schemes which have differing eligibility and fee structures making it confusing for carers (Bruen & Howe, 2009). Empirical evidence notwithstanding, the importance of respite to carers was highlighted in a qualitative research study on carers' perceptions of, and experiences with, respite. One carer poignantly highlighted that I don't know what I'd do if it [respite care] went (Ashworth, 2000).

Context to this was provided by the research team

The sheer physical and psychological exhaustion [of carers] was evident and so was the despair, all the more so because the only end in sight was the death of the dependent (Ashworth, 2000).

Stirling et al., (2010) assert that carers' 'felt' need for assistance should be a sufficient indication of their growing stress and thus deserving of respite care or other support; even if the respite service provider assessment does not suggest that the carer has 'unmet' needs.

#### **Exercise interventions**

As noted above, carers of people with dementia often lack the opportunity or are unable to make time for exercise. The physical demands of caregiving vary widely. Von Kanel et al., (2010) found that carers were less physically active than the non-carer control group, and thus had a higher cardiometabolic risk. Gusi et al., (2009) found that while the carers studied were physically strong, the female carers were more vulnerable to back injuries - something which could potentially compromise their ability to continue in the role. Studies have suggested that improving physical activity levels may have a positive effect on health and quality of life (Hirano et al., 2011).

There have been a number of successful exercise interventions for carers of people with dementia. Castro et al., (2002) found participants experienced less perceived depression, burden and stress after a taking part in a 12 month exercise intervention. The researchers did caution that their sample may not reflect the general population of carers since those tested were well educated and mostly Caucasian. Moreover, being self-selected, the participants may be more inclined to take part in exercise when supported to do so. Some of these limitations were also echoed in another study that achieved positive outcomes for carers (Janevic & Connell, 2004).

A moderate intensity exercise intervention also achieved 'notable' reductions in psychological stress, but limited gains in fitness (King et al., 2002). These studies all had different outcomes (eg. cardiometabolic risk, carer burden and stress reduction) and, as has been previously noted, are dependent on a range of factors (eg. a lack of pre-existing medical conditions, access to respite care, predisposition to engaging in exercise, access to technology).

Interestingly, results from a Brazilian exercise intervention targeting care recipients suggested that exercise was effective in not only reducing their neuropsychiatric symptoms but also in attenuating burden in their carers (Christofoletti et al., 2011). There may be opportunities for future research on exercise interventions for care recipients to also include carers thereby involving both members of the dyad with consequent benefits to each (Pinquart & Sorensen, 2006; Smits et al., 2007; Thinnes & Padilla, 2011).

#### **Technological interventions**

Technology may provide benefits to carers across a wide range of health dimensions. It may have the potential to reduce social isolation, provide access to services, and perhaps even support exercise and maintenance or development of skills. 'Telehealth' may be of particular benefit to geographically isolated carers (Glueckauf et al., 2007). Czaja et al. (2002) used telephones to provide formal and informal support services and contact with family members. While the intervention was deemed to be of benefit to carers, it must also be noted that using technology widely for this purpose may result in a spike in demand. For continued benefit, a concomitant increase in service provision may be needed.

Carers often express a preference for personal contact (Powell et al., 2008). The preliminary findings from a cognitive behavioural therapy intervention provided by telephone suggested that using this approach may be useful. The authors noted that further research was needed due to the small sample size and high attrition. A similar approach was used by Williams et al., (2010) although video coaching skills training (VCS) was augmented with weekly telephone calls. While the VCS study group achieved 'significantly greater improvements' across some psychosocial and biological measures than the control group, the authors concede that the groups were not randomised. One of the benefits of the Williams study is that it included 'objective' indicators of health, including blood pressure, heart rate and cortisol. Harmell et al., (2011) contends that this approach allows for the better definition of clinical outcomes for carers and also addresses the dearth of this type of data (also highlighted by Parker et al., 2008).

Another study with positive results provided carers with either an internet 'chat' or an internet 'video' support group and, not surprisingly, carers preferred the video option (Marziali et al., 2010). A relatively recent review found that results from technological interventions for carers were 'inconsistent', but they did have the potential to assist carers (Powell, 2008). This was a position also advocated by Thinnes & Padilla (2011), who acknowledged that interventions utilising technology have demonstrated limited positive benefits thus far, but could be of use for follow-up consultations, for example.

#### Other findings from carer intervention studies

Selwood et al., (2007) maintain that individual interventions are more effective than group interventions, since interventions targeted at individual carers can be tailored to their specific needs. Indeed Marziali et al. (2010), examining the influence of factors such as personality and self-efficacy, suggest an individualised approach to interventions in order to effectively target specific carer needs. However, other studies note that group interventions can be of benefit in strengthening social support (Sorensen & Conwell, 2011; Eagar et al., 2007).

It is also important to note that while the carer population now numbers in the millions worldwide, many of the authors emphasise the need to tailor interventions to the specifics of the dyad (Thinnes & Padilla, 2011; Parker et al., 2008; Brodaty & Donkin, 2009). Moreover, Ducharme et al., (2011) also draw attention to the appropriateness of the timing of interventions, especially focussing on the beginning of the 'care trajectory'. Additionally, while it is widely acknowledged that informal caregiving in the community offers substantial economic benefits to society, there is a dearth of data on the cost-effectiveness of interventions (Jones et al., 2012).

#### Concluding comments about carer intervention studies

Carer intervention reviews tend to suggest that the evidence from carer interventions, as one review reports, is

ambivalent or conditional. However, a significant minority of studies do conclude that interventions for caregivers are effective, albeit at various levels of evidence (Eagar et al., 2007).

Intervention studies, as noted above, often have very different research questions or outcome measures which make it difficult to compare their efficacy. Studies which are narrow in focus may miss benefits to carers that fall outside the scope of their study question; conversely, studies which have a broad focus may lack the sensitivity to measure specific or subtle benefits.

#### Directions from the literature for future carer research

Numerous authors have acknowledged the need for more effective carer interventions (Brodaty et al., 2003 & 2009; Eagar et al., 2007; Pinquart & Sorensen, 2006). The major difficulty, with many interventions to date, is that they are targeted at specific aspects of carer need. This exploration of the carer experience, viewed through the wellness dimensions, highlights that carer health can be impacted negatively in a wide range of ways (eg. physically, emotionally, intellectually, spiritually, etc.). Moreover, negative impacts in one wellness dimension can have flow-on effects to other dimensions.

The literature suggests that interventions that target individual carers and multiple components of their lives are the most effective. In line with recommendations suggesting that multicomponent carer interventions are more effective (Parker et al., 2008; Thinnes & Padilla, 2011; Gitlin et al., 2003; Elliot et al., 2010) it is suggested that interventions that target multiple wellness dimensions may be more effective in meeting the needs of carers.

Much of the focus of carer interventions to date has been on reducing the negative aspects of caring. It has been suggested that supporting and emphasising the positive aspects of caring may also be a direction for future interventions (Carbonneau et al., 2010). This holistic approach, acknowledged as perhaps being methodologically more complicated, will also require the ability to accurately measure the nature and outcomes of interventions.

#### Interviews and focus groups with carers

#### **Care workers**

Nineteen care workers or care worker managers participated in five focus groups across the five study sites. These focus groups sought information on care worker perceptions of how carers are impacted by their caregiving responsibilities, as well as the challenges that carers face. This aspect of the study provided context for the interviews with, and data provided by, carers.

#### **Carers**

Carer participants were recruited from five aged-care service provider sites in the greater Sydney area. The study design originally envisaged 50 carers participating via a number of focus groups. However, only 28 individual participants, both current and former carers of people with dementia, agreed to be involved, with most (25) carers preferring to participate via a one-on-one interview. Three carers took part in one focus group. Interviews were conducted at service provider sites or by telephone. The interviews and focus group with carers generated over 40 hours of digital audio recordings. These were transcribed and thematically analysed.

The format of the one-on-one interviews and the focus group were semi-structured, with a series of open-ended questions that covered 5 areas of interest:

- The impact of caring on the wellness of the carer:
   Initially structured around Hettler's six wellness dimensions, and then through nodes eg. diagnosis, care recipient (CR) health and behaviour, role of family and friends.
- 2. The support available for carers

  This component looked at support from both formal and informal sources.
- Wellness defined

How carers considered or defined wellness themselves - if at all.

- 4. Suggestions for achieving greater wellness
  What suggestions, if any, carers made about improving carer wellness.
- 5. Other findings emerging from the research (eg. cultural and linguistic diversity and dementia, and elder abuse).

Quotes from carers are included in the report. They are identified only as participants: P1-P28.

#### **Main findings**

#### The impact of caring

The impact of being a carer was explored through Hettler's (1976) six dimensions of wellness:

- physical [health]
- vocational
- emotional [mental health]
- spiritual
- social
- Intellectual / cognitive

Carers articulated how their caregiving responsibilities affected each of the wellness dimensions. Carers were impacted to varying degrees across these dimensions and within the dimensions. While only a small number were impacted across every wellness dimension, every carer was impacted in at least three of the dimensions (physical, emotional and social). This was largely due to a range of factors that are reflective of the diversity within the group of carers who participated in the study, and included:

- Carer's relationship with care recipient
- Carer's own health
- Care recipient's health and diagnoses
- Care recipient's behaviour
- Family dynamics
- Previous experience with dementia or other illnesses
- Progress of the care recipient's dementia

Eighteen of our 28 carer participants were spousal carers; the remaining 10 were caring for parents (or parents-in-law). The 'biographical disruption' that carers experience as they adapt their lives to the caring role can be very profound; their roles change from husband or wife, son or daughter, to being a carer; their work, family and social lives are increasingly shaped and directed by an illness that not only affects the care recipient, but themselves also. Carers adjust to the vagaries of the illness in different ways. Some of our spousal carers found adjusting to the caring role much easier that those caring for parents. For some carers, the transition was somewhat simpler than for others. One female carer referred to her mother as

Her best friend. (P3)

Another male carer (who had no children), said that he previously never had to worry about anything, I just worried about looking after me, and that was really simple. (P16)

Becoming a carer for his mother caused him to reflect on the huge learning curve that the role necessitated. He recognised that this included having to undertake practical aspects of caring that he had never envisaged himself having to do.

I don't have a problem with washing a woman, washing my mother is a different set of rules. You know, when I have to toilet my mother, that's going to be a different set of rules. (P16) Furthermore, carers found that being impacted in one wellness dimension often had flow on effects in other wellness dimensions. Unsurprisingly, the carers' experiences were not dissimilar to those related in the academic literature.

#### **Physical wellness dimension**

Physical wellness encompasses both undertaking activities to maintain wellness, such as exercising regularly and following a healthy diet, to addressing health issues as they arise and obtaining professional medical attention when necessary. Carers cited the physical and temporal demands of caring as the two main reasons that precluded them from undertaking regular exercise. One carer commented that, in addition to having raised blood pressure, he had put on weight because he was not able to

get out and go walking. (P22)

Another carer, P9, had to forgo his daily bicycle ride, to which he attributed gaining weight; and having left it for a considerable time was unable to go back to cycling because he had "lost his balance".

Carers sometimes underplayed the health impacts that they felt were a consequence of their caring role. One carer commented that she felt caring had not

had any major impact on my health. (P12)

But, she later acknowledged that she had gained weight, because of all the "sitting" and having to forgo her sporting club and an active job. Another carer discounted the health impacts but indicated high blood pressure had become an issue (P3). Exercise, one of the main ways people maintain their physical functioning and health, in addition to having health benefits, often offered opportunities for social and family interactions which were sometimes precluded by the caring role. One carer

use[d] to manage my nephew's soccer and cricket sides. But being out all day, and Saturday, it's impossible these days. (P22)

Another carer was also involved with a sporting club

And that was a social thing as well. That's declined as well. (P12)

The study participants indicated that the adverse physical health impacts they attributed to their caring roles ranged from the relatively mild - weight gain - to quite severe - heart attack. The carers acknowledged that the demands of their caring role meant addressing their own health needs and maintaining their wellness would always be of secondary importance to addressing the health needs of their care recipient. Some carers would miss preventative health check-ups. The carer who had suffered a heart attack, while looking after his wife, articulated it thus

she's my priority... that's... that's my job, is to look after her. She can't look after herself, so somebody has to take responsibility... and I've taken it. (P10)

A number of carers had pre-existing health conditions and the demands of the caring role meant that they were not addressing their own health issues. The consequence of this approach, in the words of one carer who had diabetes, joint issues, a demanding job and family life, is that health issues

just compound, and get worse and worse and worse. Just because I'm not addressing the situation as it arises. (P26)

She articulated her reasons for not addressing her health thus

my health and my wellbeing is the very last thing, at the bottom of the list. I just can't afford to, you know, spend any time on myself because it is taken up with having to take mum to geriatricians and [] things like that. (P26)

Another carer, who was in remission from cancer, and also had a physical injury that required physiotherapy, acknowledged that she was neglecting her health. She was missing follow-up cancer checks and physiotherapy appointments. She was

not actually going to appointments because I've had so much time off with my mum. (P27)

Missing appointments for medical care was not solely determined by the health needs of the care recipient. This carer was acutely aware and conscious that attending medical appointments with her mother meant taking time away from her work; something she felt very guilty about.

The carers, by and large, felt that they had their physical health impacted, to varying degrees, by their caring role. While it is difficult to be definite about ascribing a causal relationship, the perceptions of these carers correlate with those found in the literature, highlighting how carers can have their physical health impacted by their responsibilities, as well as how health issues, when neglected, could be compounded over the longer term.

#### **Emotional / mental wellness dimension**

Hettler's definition of emotional wellness includes being able to manage feelings effectively, and to arrive at personal choices and decisions based upon the integration of feelings, cognition and behaviour. It also includes a

realistic assessment of one's limitations, development of autonomy, and ability to cope effectively with stress (Hettler, 1976).

These three aspects of Hettler's emotional wellness dimension can be impacted by the caring role, and these in turn, can affect an individual's overall mental health. The emotional wellness dimension therefore provided a useful lens through which our carers' mental health could be assessed.

Stress and mental anguish were common features experienced by our carers. They largely attributed stress to having to meet the needs of their care recipients and trying to maintain a semblance of normality with managing other responsibilities; whether it was working and being a carer (P10, P22, P26, P27), dealing with challenging care recipient behaviour (P6, P17, P25), the health and wellbeing of the care recipient, and especially as many carers are themselves advanced in years, the carer's own physical limitations. One carer felt:

there's always the worry that, ahm, well she's had a couple of falls in the last couple of months. The second time I called an ambulance because I could not lift her off the floor. (P5)

The challenge with stress is that it is sometimes difficult for carers to recognise or address it, because the factors that determine carer stress levels are often beyond their control. Two carers in the focus group illustrated this point very poignantly when talking about stress and their quality of life

P8: you don't have a life

P6: you don't really, because you are worried the whole time

P8: you live, you function according to the other person, when it's needed you have to be there to do it

This sentiment was echoed by another carer who felt she was stressed all the time, and I still am. (P17)

And while she could not be specific about how this was affecting her, she felt that the stress must have an enormous impact. I don't think I am functioning as efficiently as I used to, and as I'd like. (P17)

The carers are feeling stressed, but it is often the care recipients who are the object of their concern

The worry... just the stress of being constantly worried about her. (P26)

At the upper range of the stress spectrum, the pressures of caring resulted in two of the carers experiencing psychological breakdowns. One carer, again illustrating how impacts in one wellness dimensions can impact on others, articulated how pressures in other aspects of her life, combined with her own deteriorating physical health proved to be too much. The resultant breakdown

was a culmination of a whole year of stresses. (P6)

Another carer, with a limited support network, had taken on the whole responsibility of caring for her husband. She finally "buckled" under the pressure and reported a psychological breakdown. The only positive about this was that it was a catalyst for her speaking to somebody about respite. (P28)

In another example of the interplay between the wellness dimensions, this carer felt that her stress was the main reason why the nearly three month old wound from a surgical procedure was not healing.

I think it is stress, more than anything. Because I've got to be on my toes all the time, to make sure that [her husband] is OK. (P28)

She had been on multiple courses of antibiotics, to no avail.

Carers are often so immersed in their responsibilities that they may not recognise the mental and emotional impacts they are experiencing. It is often someone outside the dyad who recognises the seriousness of the situation. As one carer recounted

I didn't recognise [it], the community nurse did. She was the one that picked it up and said you've got, well actually she got me psychiatric help at one stage. I was that stressed out, I was going, I was gone. [] That's how bad, I didn't realise I was that bad. (P10)

The most severe impact that being a carer can have on mental and emotional health is most profoundly illustrated by the example of two male carers who were looking after their wives. They were impacted to such a degree that they had both contemplated murder-suicide.

I had it in mind to finish it all off. I thought I'd put her in the car and we'd drive off somewhere sometime, and finish it off. That's, that's the easiest way out. (P9)

This was driven by the realisation that the impacts of caring and his own health issues meant he was no longer in a position to keep caring for his wife and that she would have to be placed into care. The guilt he felt was overwhelming.

The wife of the other carer (P23) became increasingly prone to violent outbursts, for which she eventually required hospitalisation. She was admitted to a general hospital. This was very distressing to the carer because general hospitals 'just can't cope' with people with his wife's condition. He indicated that even though his wife was in hospital he still had to be there to ensure she ate, drank and had her personal care needs met. Indeed, there are those within the healthcare system who recognise that hospitals have challenges meeting the needs of older patients, especially those with cognitive issues, complex conditions and co-morbidities (Hitchcock, 2015). P23's wife was subsequently transferred to a specialised hospital which was able to meet her needs. After twenty months of being a full-time carer, with limited support from friends and family on top of the trauma of his wife's hospitalisation this carer had reached his 'breaking point'

if I'd had a gun, I'd have shot her and shot myself. Now that is an indication of how I felt at the time [] I was pretty low. (P23)

The staff, at both hospitals, were very supportive and understanding of his situation. However, he did not feel able to discuss the true state of his mental health. They

could see I was very emotional. I didn't tell them that I was suicidal, or contemplating murder for that matter, [] it's not something that you'd want to talk about anyway. (P23)

These sentiments, which are indications of the stresses that these two carers were under, are not unique amongst carers of people with dementia (O'Dwyer, 2013).

#### Vocational / occupational wellness dimension

All our Carers who were of working age were impacted vocationally by their caring responsibilities. In the early stages of the dementia, carers were often able to maintain their normal work routine and kept in contact with their care recipient throughout the day by phone (P26). Many of our carers spoke of the challenge of maintaining an effective balance between their work life and that of being a carer

while I was still working, I was struggling a bit trying to manage the issues that she was having. (P18)

For some it meant having to leave work for portions of the day to meet the needs of their care recipients. These ranged from attending GP and specialist appointments, organising service providers, to having to respond to medical emergencies

I've had to rush over, at different times, take her to emergency rooms, and stuff, and you know, wait for hours in, at the hospital. (P27)

As another carer articulated, these types of events are not uncommon.

I was at work, and I got a phone call, [] so I had to leave work straight away. (P28)

Carers are often dependent on the goodwill of their employers for making these sorts of accommodations. And while our working carers indicated that their employers were supportive and understanding of their situations, it didn't stop them feeling guilty about the caring role impacting on their jobs.

For self-employed carers, the challenges of running a business around meeting the needs of their care recipient impacts on other aspects of their own wellness. A carer who operates a computer repair business indicated that he has to work when his care recipient is asleep and I'll be up until 2 o clock in the morning sometimes working on the computers because I need to get them done to go back the next day. (P22)

For others, caring responsibilities sometimes necessitated the taking of extended periods of time away from work as carers' leave, annual leave, long-service leave or leave without pay.

I had to use my long service leave. So when I left I virtually had no long service leave after 26 years. (P3)

The progress of their care recipient's dementia has meant that some carers made even greater sacrifices and gave up their work, future employment opportunities or their businesses altogether. (P12, P25, P10, P16)

Carers' dedication to their care recipients has sometimes meant having to make difficult choices concerning this aspect of their lives.

I had to make a decision to, ahm, either [] put him into a nursing home or give work away. And I chose the latter. (P28)

And while this decision meant degrees of financial hardship for this carer, she found that, that it was better for me to give work up and look after him because he was more, he was much more, ahm, in control when he knew that I was around (P28)

Another carer, discussing the competing concurrent challenges of trying to run his business, be a carer, and address his failing health decided that selling his business was the only option he had, irrespective of the losses.

It was either sell or walk out. I was going to walk out at Christmas time if I hadn't sold. I had to, it just became too much. (P10)

The care recipient's own employment situation could also have an impact on carers. One lady struggled with her husband continuing to work. His work formed a large part of his identity and their social life. When she had begun to notice that there were issues with his cognition she provided secretarial assistance to him, dedicating considerable time and physical and emotional energy towards allowing her husband to continue with his consultancy work. It was a

hassle for him to produce them (reports). And then for me to type them and re-type them and re-type them, so I was re-typing a million times. (P4)

These efforts were not without consequences. She

began to suffer what I thought was stress, [] I wasn't a stressy person, but I blamed stress and, the children came over one morning, and my hand was shaking so much I couldn't even type, and my feet, feet all swelled up, and I had ahm, Graves' disease, which I think can be brought on by stress anyway. (P4)

There are considerable challenges for both the carer and the care recipient in having the care recipient relinquish roles, both vocational and avocational, and then having to meet the roles themselves, either financially or functionally. Care recipients sometimes have trouble accepting their limitations due to their dementia, but so too do carers.

#### Intellectual wellness dimension

For the purpose of this study, the intellectual wellness dimension was broadened to include creative hobbies and pastimes that carers engaged in. The intellectual wellness dimension, reflecting impacts on other wellness dimensions, was also an area where carers had made sacrifices to continue their caring responsibilities. This dimension was very important to the carers in the study. For some, this impact is both very tangible and intensely personal because it embodies or reflects an intrinsic aspect of themselves. The way some of the carers describe how caring has precluded their ability to pursue their creative and intellectual interests conveys a deep sense of loss. A female carer described the impact thus

So whatever I was doing, little by little I was leaving them behind. My all.... I was into painting, into craft, into all sorts of things. Little by little I left them behind. (P8)

A male carer who restored vintage motor cars indicated that his hobby allowed him to be creative, continue learning and was an opportunity to be social.

I used to see those guys regularly, go down to see them, and do workshops and paint shops and do work with them and learn a bit, and ahm, you know, they were good technical contacts which I enjoyed. Well, I've lost all of those. (P2)

The often complex range of factors and dynamics that determine so many aspects of carers' lives can have impacts upon multiple dimensions of wellness. The illuminating case of a carer who gave up work to look after her husband exemplifies this. She indicated that she would love to go back to study, but that wasn't possible in the near term because of managing time, finances and her husband's dependence on her. There are challenges in fitting available respite care into scheduled events like lectures and classes (this holds for commonplace events such as attending medical appointments, and even her dementia support group). Her husband gets very disorientated if she is absent for extended periods of time. She is now reliant on a carer's pension, so her financial situation also precludes her from pursuing her intellectual interests even if her husband did not require her constant company. (P28)

Even for a care recipient who is in the early stages of dementia, the changes in their interests and personality often means that they lose interest in former intellectual activities making these interests difficult to pursue for their carers also. One carer related how attending live music concerts and the theatre were common experiences that she and her husband both took great pleasure in. However, she no longer made arrangements for these events because her husband did not enjoy them now

and that really spoils my enjoyment of it. (P17)

The suggestion that she could attend these events alone or with friends was discounted because these were always shared experiences.

The importance of intellectual wellness cannot be minimised. For many carers, their hobbies and pursuits, that form this wellness dimension, are an intrinsic part of their identity but they also provide opportunities for social interaction, personal development and cultural experiences. One former carer was able to resume his hobbies after a five year hiatus (his wife had been placed in permanent residential care), but this did little to overcome the profound sense of dislocation and grief that he still felt as a result of his caring experiences. The care recipient is predominantly the carer's focus (even after 3 years this was still palpable). (P9)

#### **Spiritual wellness dimension**

Hettler's definition of spiritual wellness is worth quoting in full.

'A person engaged in the process of spiritual wellness is willing and able to transcend oneself in order to question the meaning and purpose in his/her life and the lives of others. He/she is involved in the process of questioning all that is around him/her and has an appreciation for that which cannot be completely understood. This person seeks to find harmony between that which lies within and the social and physical forces that come from outside. Feelings of doubt, despair, fear, disappointment and dislocation as well as feelings of pleasure, joy, eagerness and discovery are part of this search for a universal value system. The person on a path towards spiritual wellness is learning to be tolerant of the opposites and contradictions that exist within his/her world and beliefs and influences of others. He/she is able to engage in the formulation of a systematic worldview, and system of values that give unity, purpose and goals to one's hopes, striving, thoughts and action.'

This spiritual wellness dimension is perhaps the most and least applicable to the situation of carers of people with dementia, insofar as carers took considerable meaning and purpose from the caring role, but they did not articulate this as spiritual wellness, even though it closely mapped to Hettler's definition. Spiritual wellness was something that was clearly articulated by only one of the carers, who took great solace in regular meditation and spiritual practices.

[] without that, that and my general and spiritual practice I think I'd be, you know, not coping at all. (P4)

Religious and spiritual practice in Australia is usually culturally and socially more private that in the US, where the 'wellness dimensions' concept was developed. There is no doubt that the carers in our study felt a deep sense of purpose and derived considerable satisfaction in caring for their care recipients (P4, P16, P18, P22). However, the role also gave rise to other, more challenging emotions. Some carers indicated that they experienced feelings of self-doubt and guilt, much of which arose either from family members voicing concerns about their inability to provide appropriate care for their loved ones or they themselves doubting the adequacy of their own efforts at providing care; the following focus group conversation discussing this issue illustrates these feelings:

P6: I've got all of my family around me not really thinking I'm doing the right thing. And it's total guilt the whole time. People lay it on you, [] guilt, guilt, guilt.

P7: we find the same at the (dementia carers) support group. All the people have that, have that experience (of guilt).

P8: Everybody

The self-doubt was posited as something that occurred because their social isolation meant they often had no one affirming that what they were doing was 'good-enough'. But, as noted, carers were also often able to find great joy and laugh at experiences they had shared with their care recipients, even when they were challenging. P21 recounted the challenges she experienced in undertaking 'outings', especially as her husband had a habit of 'escaping'. In an interesting role-reversal, he adopted a protective role over her in a large crowd, even though he was the person with dementia. She saw that he was in his 'element' and he derived great 'pleasure' from the experience of attending the Sydney New Year's Eve fireworks display - something that they had always shared. She had had her reservations at the start of the evening, but, reflecting on these sorts of experiences, she realised the importance of continuing these outings for both of them, even though they presented challenges for both of them.

If we can, we do it. (P21)

#### Social wellness dimension

Hettler's definition of social wellness encompasses the importance of social interaction and engagement, effective communication among community members, and that these interactions are reciprocal, both for the individual and the community. Some of our carers demonstrated how positive social interaction was essential for both themselves and their care recipient but also how, for many, caring responsibilities limited their opportunities for social engagement, as the previous examples regarding the opportunities for exercise and socialising illustrated.

As one carer put it when asked about the impact on this wellness dimension What social life? (P22)

His sentiments were echoed by another carer social life, what social life? You don't have a social life. (P10)

This was a common refrain for many of the carers. The reasons for having a reduced social life were somewhat varied. For some it was a time issue

as she got on with the dementia she wasn't able to be on her own... so I had to organise either respite or someone there to take my place. (P3)

Another carer who was an organising member of a social club member realised that I can't do any more for the social club. Because it takes up too much time [] And I realise I need to put more time in with A (the care recipient). (P5)

For others it was the physical logistics of caring

I don't go out at night time, because if I go out at night time I've got to leave me son here with her, ah, they've got to be people to put her to bed, it's not a 1 person job, you know, you don't get a social life. (P10)

Care recipients also had an influence on the social life and interactions of their carers. P24 could not travel to visit friends for lunches as much because of her husband's physical health; P17 had changed her social life and was having 'fewer outings' because her husband's behaviour was an 'embarrassment to some extent' (P17). She was aware that it was part of the condition but was uncomfortable having her friends exposed to it, highlighting how much stigma exists for people with dementia. Another carer, whose mother was part of an active seniors' social group, felt they were becoming uncomfortable in her mother's company as her condition progressed. While her own social life was somewhat limited by her mother's condition, she also realised the social group's reaction was impacting on her mother's social life. Some of our carers indicated that long-time friends disappeared

you don't you see them for dust. (P4)

Other factors can also shape social wellness. Two of the carers who had forgone employment found that their social lives were also impacted by their financial circumstances. One explained it thus. Friends

won't ring [] because we know she can't come because she can't pay for it. (P28)

Conversely, other carers indicated that their friends were happy to interact with them and their care recipients. (P7, P21)

Other carers had to adapt their social lives to their changed circumstances we have our social life on the weekend. (P27)

As the aforementioned examples illustrate, being a carer of someone with dementia can often entail having to accept limitations on a normal social life. However, there is scope for carers to maintain their social wellness. Two of our carers, after availing themselves of respite services, were able to re-engage with friends and family, and go out to lunch or the cinema. (P18, P21)

#### Wellness defined by carers

Wellness, defined by Hettler (1976) as optimal human health resulting from the dynamic balance between six health dimensions or dimensions, was a concept that few of the carers had readily considered or had applied to their lives. Hettler had, as his focus, an individual within a community. Our carers, when asked to articulate their perceptions of wellness, often focused on the wellness of their care recipient first. Their concepts of wellness were defined within the construct of the dyad. Carers perceived or defined their wellness in various ways: these ranged from their levels of 'patience' or 'tolerance' (P2), 'how I handle situations'(P27), with their care recipient, to 'stress' (P10), not having 'physical' or 'mental' health issues (P26), their own physical ability to provide care, to lift the care recipient or get them out of bed (P5), 'being able to exercise or eat well' (P3), to having good health, being active and enjoying 'company' (P24). Some of the carers also defined wellness by the changes or impacts caring had upon their lifestyles, such as not getting out, putting on weight (P22), or not being able to have independence and freedom (P12). Two of the carers perceived wellness in ways that were not dissimilar to those defined by Hettler. One opined that

when I'm physically and mentally and psychologically, sort of, in sync or in wellbeing, well then I know that I can cope very well, much better with what life brings than when I'm not. (P4)

For another, wellness was trying to maintain, as best as one can, a normal lifestyle by

adapt[ing] with the health of various reserves, resources available to you, and information, to manage the condition as best you can... [] to keep in good shape, to be a carer for somebody with the condition. (P18)

Being a carer of someone with dementia can be an immersive, overwhelming experience. Carers 'just get on with it'. Often they do not fully comprehend or are cognisant of the degree to which being a carer impacts upon them, or alters their life. One carer acknowledged that the interview with the researcher had given her considerable cause for reflection because, until going through each of the wellness dimensions, she had never considered how many aspects of her life had been affected by being a carer

I must admit I've been on a bit of an emotional journey whilst I have been talking to you (P1)

She also felt the interview was beneficial because, even though she had attended support groups and talked to friends, she had never been given the opportunity to talk at length about her experiences of being a carer.

#### **DISCUSSION AND SYNTHESIS**

#### Challenges to Carers' Wellness

Among the many issues that carers identified as impacting upon their wellness, there were four areas that stood out as particularly stressful. These were:

- Dealing with changed behaviours
- Accessing support services
- Family dynamics
- Interactions with health professionals

#### **Dealing with changed behaviours**

A common thread running through the carer narratives was the impact and the difficulty they had in dealing with the changed behaviours of their care recipients. The carers discussed how these changes in behaviour, and the behavioural and psychological symptoms of dementia, sometimes presenting as the expression of frustration, anger and even aggression on the part of the care recipients, were perhaps some of the biggest challenges to their wellbeing that they faced. For some it was the loss of conversation with the person they had shared things with for much of their lives (P17, P21, P23), for others it was behaviours that were a risk to the care recipient and the carer: P9's wife set the kitchen on fire, as did P28's friend's mother. On other occasions carers experienced episodes or behaviours which were more confronting than many of them had ever envisaged having to deal with. P9 reported how his wife tried to jump out of a moving car while travelling to their daughters' home for informal respite: the daughters were so affected by this experience that they never felt safe enough to have their mother stay again, increasing the impact on P9; P6's mother became abusive at family gatherings; P21's husband tried to get off a moving train; P25's mother was constantly rude and aggressive. Not only were these events confronting in themselves, but their impact was magnified because they were the result of behaviours that were so out of character for the care recipient. One carer, reflecting on his having had to call upon the police to restrain his wife during an episode, described her as someone who was

the gentlest, inoffensive person, never abused anybody, any of this sort of stuff... it was just a total opposite end of the [] behavioural spectrum. (P18)

Carers had to learn how to deal with these events. Because

if you panic, you are putting yourself into a complete syndrome of getting them taken away and all this sort of thing. And that creates even more stress for you. (P21)

The unfortunate thing for many carers is that they had to learn tactics and skills to deal with changed behaviours by themselves. Carers indicated that they would sometimes get angry and frustrated with their care recipient.

I feel guilty for yelling at her, why did I yell at her? [] So I go outside in the backyard and scream for a while. (P16)

This carer, in an effort to assist him in dealing with his frustration, has also learnt some breathing and relaxation techniques.

Carers had to learn to accept that it was the illness that was the cause of their frustration, not their care recipient (P8, P6, P21). The experiences of other carers was sometimes useful in attaining that perspective: G indicated how important the support groups were to him in highlighting that it was not his mother talking, but

the disease talking. (P16)

Carers who experienced anger and frustration at their care recipients' behaviour indicated that these emotions engendered further feelings of guilt and self-doubt. As another carer commented, you have to

learn a lot [yourself] to manage the sickness. (P9)

Dealing with changed behaviours is a stressful experience for many carers, and much of what they do to manage these situations is either trial and error, or trying tactics that have worked for other carers. Having a systematic or formalised method or educating carers in how to manage these sorts of situations is something that a number of our carers articulated would have reduced their stress and improved their wellness.

#### **Accessing Support services**

Service providers and support services are of vital importance for carers. They offer education on dementia, assistance with a wide range of tasks, and provide services that can allow people living with dementia to remain at home with their carer for longer than might otherwise be the case. These services range from offering in-home and institutional respite, assistance with meeting the care-recipient's basic needs such as lifting and bathing, to assistance with household cleaning and shopping, and subsidised taxi vouchers and incontinence supplies. However, carers often carried on 'coping' by themselves.

It's your duty to do it. You do feel that way. (P13)

Even when carers know that support services are available they do not always avail themselves of them, because

that's my job, [] to look after her. (P10)

My wife is not well, I'm here to look after her. (P18)

Others were not ready to access services because they were still coming to terms with how the condition will impact upon them and their lives. Although they knew of the condition, and that help was available

you really couldn't believe, want to believe it. It had to be in the future, [the need] wasn't now. (P13)

The result of this approach is that when carers take the responsibility solely upon themselves to look after their care recipient, it impacts upon their wellness. As the examples given previously demonstrate, they often push themselves to their physical and mental limits. When carers begin to experience difficulties in coping, they do not know where to turn or who to look to for guidance or support in relation to accessing services.

you just don't know what's out there. And what you're entitled to or what she's (the care recipient) entitled to... there's, there's sort of, ahm, no information available like that. (P27)

Some carers had very different experiences - some successful, some challenging and frustrating. Much of the success in being aware of, or accessing support services was attributed to luck, word of mouth and information from friends. As one carer indicated, it was 'very easy', when you had the correct contact details (P3). Another carer, frustrated at his inability to have different service providers return calls or follow up on requests voiced his disillusions thus

I think they were only interested in the name, to have you on the books. [] Because they might get a grant or something for it, because you're on the books. (P9)

While these lapses may be a result of oversights by individual staff members of service providers, they may also be reflective of the strength of demand for services that carers require. A negative experience with a service provider can shape the support services that carers utilise. One carer put his wife into respite care for 3 weeks. Instead of respite being an opportunity for him to rest and recuperate, it ended up being a traumatic experience for both himself and his care recipient.

It was the worst thing I ever did for her. (P10)

She had visibly lost weight and was highly distressed during showering - something that had never happened before (P10). The carer experienced so much 'guilt' about that episode that he vowed never to put his wife into care again.

Other carers had very positive experiences with their service providers (P3), and the care workers can become almost like family to the carers. These care worker-carer interactions can sometimes be the only social interactions some carers have as their social and family life shrinks as a result of their dedication to the dyad.

[the service provider] almost became my family, and when K (husband) went in to care, that ends, it almost ends overnight, and I was devastated, I really felt I had no-one. (P20)

This carer, while acknowledging that the service provider was really supportive of her, indicated that service providers have limited funds with which to support carers once their care recipient is placed into care. This is because aged care services are budget constrained and, in the words of one community care worker manager

Operate on the smell of an oily rag. (CCWP9)

Accessing Centrelink support services often involves filling in numerous forms and then benefits are only available or managed via the internet or at a computer terminal at a Centrelink office. The study had a number of carers who were accessing Centrelink services, and while they were all computer literate, some of them had difficulty in navigating through the system (P16, P22 P28). One carer had his carer's pension stopped because he forgot his Centrelink password and missed an electronic letter requesting additional information in his drop box (P22). This was a topic that also came up in the focus groups with the care workers. At a number of sites they indicated that some older carers were having difficulties with accessing government services like Medicare and Centrelink. One carer pleaded with a care worker to help fill out a lengthy form, because

If you don't fill this out I am just going to throw it in the bin, my head is going around and around, I can't cope (CCWP3).

Another carer had not applied for the Centrelink carer's pension that he was entitled to because completing the forms was so onerous (P16).

The internet is a valuable research, education and support tool for learning about services for many computer-literate carers (P28). But, as some of our carers indicated, other carers who are older than they are may not have ready access to a computer or possess the necessary computer literacy or research skills to access this knowledge (P16, P22, P28).

# **Support groups**

Carers do not always recognise that there are groups of people in very similar situations to themselves 'out there' who meet to support each other and share their experiences. For the carers who availed themselves of them, support groups were beneficial to their wellness for a host of reasons. They included allowing carers the opportunity to discuss their situations with like-minded peers. They also provided a forum for learning about the support services that are available to carers. One carer outlined how a man in her support group was 'struggling so much', but he didn't know that he needed to have an ACAT assessment or that services were available to him (P4). Carers often used support groups to share their knowledge and learn how to manage 'situations' or 'changed behaviours'. Attending support groups, as one carer acknowledged, enabled him to learn

tolerance and patience and which I didn't even know I possessed. (P16)

Carers were able to encourage others to experiment - one carer was able to encourage her husband to shower by drawing on his face when he was asleep. One of the most valuable roles of the support groups was to provide a sense of solidarity with someone 'who understands' (P4, P8, P16, P19, P21, P22, P28).

There were, however, some carers who found support groups were of limited benefit to them for many different reasons. Some, for example, who were caring for parents, found the support groups they attended didn't reflect their age group, or the stage of the illness of their care recipients (P1, P12). Others, recognising that they could have been of benefit, found that their timing and availability did not suit the ever-changing demands of providing around the clock care to their care recipients (P10, P28). One carer (P9), recognising that he needed help, arranged for his daughter to look after his wife so he could attend a support group. Upon his arrival he was informed that it had been cancelled, and was told they would let him know when the next one was. Even though he was in considerable need of assistance he never attended another support group again until his wife was placed into residential care. A carer who was instructed by her GP to find a carers' support group, reflecting on her own varied experiences with them, felt that support groups were absolutely essential for carers. While she acknowledged that some were less than perfect, she said that, in her experience, it was imperative that carers try a few support groups until they found one that suited their needs. This advice may have been useful to the previous carer.

While support groups may be helpful as a forum for providing information to carers, this information it is often 'drip-fed' and carers are dependent on the acquired knowledge of those who attend (P16). This carer indicated that the information he received through one service provider was as much as he had attained through attending four support groups over the previous few years. He could have saved a lot of time getting it all in one place.

# Family dynamics of carers: factors which can determine informal support

Family dynamics was one of the factors which some of our carers identified as having an impact on their wellness. There is a popular perception that families are drawn closer together during times of stress or illness. Carers who had positive relationships with their families were able to draw on additional resources and support, both for themselves and their care recipient.

I find it deepens those friendships and relationships in, in that interaction of helping and caring. (P4)

Even when family dynamics were positive, carers were sometimes limited in their ability to avail themselves of family support because of distance. P17 had two children, but her son lived in another state, and her daughter was living overseas. P27's eldest daughter, who was very willing to assist, lived in Queensland. Many of P10's family lived within NSW, but none in close proximity. He was also a 'sandwich carer'- in addition to looking after his wife, he had to look after his son who had had an accident at work, and then subsequently developed a chronic illness. A number of our carers were in similar situations of having to look after their partners and care for children: P21 has a son with a mental illness; P26 had a son with dependency issues, a husband on a disability pension through a work accident (which limited his ability to help at home), and she also had to look after a daughter recuperating from a broken leg.

Although we had a relatively small sample of participants, over a third (10/28) of our carers had strained and sometimes even hostile relationships with their families, their siblings, children, inlaws and even their care recipients. These family dynamics were a cause of considerable stress for those affected. These resulted in conflicts relating to provision of care, legal issues, relationship stresses and even impacts on their own health. P27 felt guilty about not just moving her mother into her family home but was also very aware that

if I did that, that would break up my marriage. (P27)

P6 recognised that her mother, who lived alone, needed someone to 'take over' or manage her affairs because of her cognitive issues. P6 had considerable difficulty in convincing her siblings (who mostly live interstate) that she should take on the guardianship, even though she was living closest to her mother, and she and her husband were interacting with her mother on a regular basis and could recognise the cognitive decline

and that was the beginning of me just thinking 'I don't know if I can deal with this'.. because I had to fill forms in and have my siblings agree to what I was going to do, and so you are on the phone talking to them and they are telling you 'oh no, mum's alright when I ring her'. (P6)

P27 had traditionally 'taken care' of her mother. Her siblings do very little to help her. One is upset by her mother's condition, the other is resentful of past 'slights'. Even though their mother is able to still live alone with assistance from P27 and the service provider, her siblings make me feel [] that somehow I'm letting mum down. (P27)

P23 had a strained relationship with his wife's children. They, like the family of many of our carers, played a very limited role in assisting him in the care of their mother. He, like many of our carers, was completely overwhelmed by the situation and felt 'completely alone', especially as his own family lived some distance from him.

Some of the challenges that the carers had previously faced in their lives were able to be applied in different situations. One of the carers was able to utilise the skills she learnt in managing her son's mental health illness when her husband subsequently developed dementia. She had involved the whole family in her son's care - from educating them about the illness (through weekly lessons and therapy sessions for the whole family), to joining support groups and developing resources for families in similar situations. These skills were very beneficial when her husband's dementia was diagnosed. She had a ready-made action plan, and the family were 'primed' to support her (P21). Another carer (P16) had a job (before he gave it up to become a carer) which entailed a lot of networking and research skills. He said those skills were indispensable in looking after his mother.

#### Interactions with GPs and medical services

Some of our carers found their interactions with health professionals and the medical system very challenging. The main areas of concern for carers were obtaining a correct diagnosis and having their own health and wellbeing supported throughout the caring journey. Family members, before they become carers, are usually the first to recognise that something is amiss. Some care recipients were sometimes unwilling to engage with health professionals to address their carers' concerns.

she used to get quite angry when I suggested taking her to the doctor. (P23)

Some of our carers initial concerns and observations were brushed aside by GPs. One carer who had noticed issues with her husband 6 years previously finally got a proper diagnosis and a care management plan in the preceding year

they say there's nothing wrong. [] I knew something was seriously wrong [] but I couldn't get any confirmation from anyone who should have known better. (P17)

She felt that the stress she experienced from having to deal with caring for her husband, cope with his changing behaviour, and her inability to convince his doctors that something was wrong, resulted in her becoming depressed and having to receive counselling. This situation was not unique. The two female carers in the focus group had their care recipients' deteriorating conditions explained away as the symptoms of 'old age' (P6, P8). The difficulty in obtaining a diagnosis, even when specialists were involved, led to feelings of frustration towards the medical profession amongst some carers. One carer, articulating her feelings about having to see specialist after specialist, in attempts to understand what is happening with her husband, said

they are so ridiculous these doctors. They think they know everything. They don't have a clue. (P8)

#### Another said

If you don't have a diagnosis, you're flying in the dark. (P6)

One of the other issues that carers face is that health professionals may be aware that a patient is experiencing symptoms of dementia but not be able to inform relatives due to patient privacy requirements.

how many years had the doctor known that she was heading that way and not said a word to any [] relation. (P8)

Even when GPs have had an extended and ongoing relationship with their patients they can miss symptoms of dementia (P26). Some of the GPs inability to pick up on symptoms of dementia might be attributed to the relatively common short consultation times, or care recipients masking their condition, either from family members or health professionals. One carer commented that her husband presented very well and 'fooled everyone' (P20). P18 noted how his wife was able to mask her condition with their doctor and friends, and when he raised concerns or highlighted behaviours, his credibility was questioned (P18). This situation was not unique. Another carer, commenting on his interactions with a number of family members who had dementia, noted that

they had dementia, but they are not stupid. If I ask you a question, and you don't know it, but you know you should know it, you'd be able to get around it... and so can they. (P7)

However, it must also be noted that research has also indicated that GPs may be reluctant to suggest a diagnosis of dementia (Philips, et al, 2012). Communications between carers and health professionals are not without their problems. Health professionals play an important role in supporting carer wellness in ways which they themselves may not always comprehend.

They don't know how to communicate. They don't know how to explain the situation; they don't know how to give you some courage to keep going. (P8)

When carers had concerns about their family members, they were confused or unsure about how to raise or discuss these concerns with GPs or specialists. P16 said that every speciality in life had its 'language', and if carers wanted to communicate effectively with health professional, it was necessary for them to

learn the language of dementia. (P16)

Carers have to make sense of often complex and challenging situations. Lacking the 'language of dementia' or a basic understanding of the condition means that some carers do not 'know which questions to ask' of health professionals.

An increase in dementia information support services, many of which are freely available online, means there are many more sources of information available to carers. But for some carers, not in the habit of conducting online research, the availability of such services does not mean they are accessible or useful to carers.

Do some research? Yeah, well, what questions do I ask? (P23)

Carers acknowledged that they were often in denial about the symptoms they were observing, and even when a diagnosis was forthcoming, there were still issues about accepting and managing the illness. Some carers, like many members of the community, can sometimes find their interactions and even the attitudes of health professionals quite intimidating. Sometimes carers, many of whom already feel guilt and frustration about their own perceived inadequacies in providing care, have these feelings compounded when interacting with health professionals, especially if their issues or concerns have been raised previously, or involved seeing multiple health professionals. P20's husband, in addition to his dementia, also had a complex range of health issues. She constantly had to 'battle' health professionals to have them recognise that her husband also had dementia. These experiences were most discomforting to her.

Medical people are the worst, [the] most hurtful to carers (P20).

Her sense of frustration with the medical profession was not uniform. Her own GP was very applied in her approach to addressing the carer's wellness needs. Recognising that she was having difficulties dealing with the situation, the GP told her

He's got dementia, he's going to the [respite] cottage and you are going to a [support] group. (P20)

Another concern for carers was that GPs were often unable to provide them with advice on how to maintain their own health or pick up on their own health issues. One GP, over the 11 years that he was treating a husband and wife dyad, never discussed any of the carer's health issues. The doctor

didn't give me any advice, or anything really. (P9)

There may be a number of reasons for this: the appointments were booked for the wife, who was the care recipient, so the consultations would have been focused on her; the carer did not raise any of his health issues with the GP, because his wife was his main focus (this was a sentiment expressed by a number of our carers); or the GP may also have been unaware of the health and wellness impacts of being a carer.

While the previous examples have demonstrated areas where carer wellness has been impacted by shortcomings of health professionals, there were a number of carers who had very positive interactions with their GPs and health professionals. For some of the carers these interactions were pivotal in supporting their wellness, often after they had reached a crisis point which they themselves did not even recognise. Two carers recounted how their doctors outlined what would happen to them (and their care recipient) if they did not start looking after their own health and wellbeing. One doctor, who was very familiar with the impacts of caring for someone with dementia, gave one of our carers

some fairly strong advice about what I needed to do about looking after my health, and going and getting fit and eating properly. (P18)

Interestingly, when carers were asked who they would take advice from on managing their own wellness, GPs were cited as the people they would be most likely to accept advice from on addressing their own wellness needs. As the previous examples illustrate, health professionals can influence how carers address their wellness needs - sometimes they need an objective opinion.

# Other issues: Cultural and linguistically diverse issues, and elder abuse

While carers' wellness has been the focus of this research, some data from the study has highlighted issues that may merit further research. General practice and other medical services have already been discussed, but the relationship one carer had with her GP illustrates other factors that can have an impact upon carers. This carer felt that her GP was judging her for allowing her mother, who has dementia, to continue living by herself. Her perception is that the GP, who is of a different ethnicity to her, is quite 'traditional' when it comes to family. His 'judgement' is causing her stress. The carer cannot be certain whether the GP's 'judgement' is real or in her imagination. However, she is experiencing stress from it, and it is an example of why GPs and other health professionals may benefit from further education on cultural diversity and skills in managing patients with dementia and their carers, especially if patients and health professionals are from different cultural backgrounds.

People with dementia do not always live with their carer. As such, they may be exposed or come into contact with people who do not understand their condition or how it affects their behaviour. One carer was informed by a service provider that her mother, who has physical health issues that are managed by a community nursing team, was 'handled roughly' because of her 'behaviour'. People with dementia can sometimes exhibit behaviours which others may find confronting or challenging. This is an issue that carers have to deal with continually, but even though there may be challenges in learning how to manage such behaviours, they recognise that it is the 'illness' not the 'person'. There is an expectation that a health professional or service provider, knowing a client has dementia, would still afford them the same degree of care and respect that they afford other clients. That this was not the case suggests that there is scope for ensuring all health professionals and service providers are educated in the management and care of people with dementia.

From a broader perspective, it is well recognised that people with dementia, and their carers, can experience stigma, isolation and discrimination (Alzheimer's Australia, 2010). Some of our carers were embarrassed by their care recipient's behaviour and had curtailed their social lives as a result of this (P17). Care recipients were also, in the words of one carer concerned about being labelled with the 'mad woman syndrome' (P16). This may be why numerous carers indicated that many of their care recipients exerted considerable efforts to mask their condition (P4, P6, P16, P20, P26, P27).

# Carer suggestions for achieving greater wellness

Carers suggested a number of ways in which their wellness needs could be better supported. Education on dementia, for both carers and their families, was seen as potentially very important, along with education on the support services available. This material could be made available through GPs' surgeries, information packs, helplines and DVDs.

Additional education for GPs and other health professionals, on how to recognise and manage dementia, was also seen as being an important strategy, along with training for health professionals on recognising the health needs of carers especially as the latter are sometimes reticent about articulating these needs.

# Addressing the wellness gaps with carers, carer families and health professionals

Carers identified three areas where their specific wellness was being impacted by their caring responsibilities. When our carers described how they were being impacted by their role, it was commonly described as 'stress'. This stress was caused through the plethora of demands that are placed upon them. Reducing these demands could, carers suggested, improve their wellness.

#### **Carers**

The first area is providing carers with appropriate knowledge and skills about dementia and how to deal with the many new and challenging situations that they face. One of the carers,

reflecting a common sentiment, explained how the knowledge and skills they had acquired over their caring journey would have benefited them from the beginning.

...if we had the experience that we pass on now [in support groups to other carers] ... if we had that at the beginning. The stress level would have been so much lower. (P22)

As noted previously, caring for someone with dementia can be very challenging. While there is a lot of literature available on the various aspects of the condition, one of the areas where carers struggled most was dealing with changed behaviours. Carers sometimes found themselves in very difficult situations which were not only confronting, but some of them also had the potential for harm to the care recipient or themselves. Therefore having knowledge is especially useful, especially for dealing with challenging situations.

Forearmed is forewarned, you just, you don't panic as much. (P21)

Carers often had to learn how to deal with these situations by themselves. While some were very adept, there were other carers who struggled, and this had a toll on not only their physical and mental health, but throughout the range of wellness dimensions. There was a clear demand for carers being trained in these areas. A number of care workers indicated that they receive ongoing training on how to manage care recipients' behaviour. They suggested that providing this type of training and education to carers could be beneficial, especially as the carers are the ones who spend the bulk of their time with the care recipient.

The other main suggestion our carers had was that they would benefit from education on accessing support services, the various dementia conditions (especially the different stages), and questions to ask health professionals. It was suggested that this could be provided through online training or via other media like brochures or DVDs. This sort of training would have to be provided in formats that were accessible to carers. The fact that most of our carers were unable to attend focus groups for this research suggests that the normal 'workshop' style that is often employed for providing education may not be the most suitable format for delivering information to carers of people with dementia. This point is clearly illustrated by the example of one of our carers; she had been offered education on the condition and accessing support services, but was unable to make time to attend. (P27)

One of our carers had great success in using a meditation practice for her wellness. It is the most incredibly helpful thing, I don't think I would be sane without it. (P4)

While teaching coping skills such as meditation may be of limited interest to all carers, it may be of interest to some.

#### Carers' families

Carers also suggested that education should be made available to their families. Their hope was that this would allow other family members, especially where there is friction, to gain a better understanding of the condition and the impact that caring places upon the primary carer. In addition, this education might encourage other family members to provide greater assistance and support. The successful approach of P21, in educating her whole family about her son's mental condition, and how this model was later applied to educating the family and supporting her when her husband was diagnosed with dementia, suggests that this approach is one that may have wider application.

# **General Practitioners and health professionals**

Our carers also suggested providing dementia-specific training and education to GPs and other health professionals. It is hoped that training and education on dementia and dementia-related issues for health professionals would:

- facilitate earlier diagnosis of the condition;
- provide carers with knowledge and advice about accessing support services; and
- highlight to carers the importance of maintaining their own health and wellbeing.

# **General Practitioners and dementia diagnosis**

As noted previously, carers who had difficulties in obtaining a correct diagnosis at an early juncture experienced considerable stress through not being able to understand what was happening to their family member (P8, P17). If GPs were better able to recognise the early signs of dementia it would allow for earlier diagnosis and better management of the condition. This would have benefits for both carers and care recipients. There is evidence in the literature that GPs may require assistance in recognising dementia in the primary care setting (Philips, 2012; Pond, 2013). Furthermore, the recently released federal government report on dementia, *Thinking Ahead*, highlighted the need for training that emphasises improved

diagnosis, care and support pathways for people with dementia and their families and carers. (APHREF, 2013)

# Informing carers about available support services and encouraging carers to access support and services earlier

General practitioners are usually the health professionals who provide ongoing primary care to both members of the dementia dyad – but not necessarily the same GP for both. As our examples illustrate, carers are sometimes reluctant to access services, often preferring to continue caring for their care recipient by themselves. Indeed, some of our carers continued in this fashion until a health crisis arose.

When asked who they would trust to provide health and wellness advice, and who they would be most likely to follow advice given to them, the three responses given were general practitioner, social worker and friend. The most common response amongst carers was that GPs were best placed to provide information to them about health issues, services and supports. The reasons given were that GPs occupy a position of trust and have an understanding of the potential health impacts of the caring burden on carers. While it would be beyond reasonable expectations to assume that GPs could provide information on all the support services that are potentially available to carers, they may be in a position to provide information on basic services and supports. This information would need to be provided in a way that highlights to carers how important this information could be to their wellbeing. One of the carers, talking about how useful an information folder provided by GPs to carers of people with dementia would be, said he was

darn sure it would be [a] great help to them (to carers). (P10)

This carer was one who was under considerable strain. He attributed his numerous health impacts to his caring role and, as mentioned previously, was about to walk away from his

business. His wellness was improved by the intervention of a number of health professionals convincing him to start taking better care of himself. Therefore, it is important that health professionals

don't hand them the folder and say it's all yours, you know, hand them the folder and say, this is where you start. You know, you ring this number and ask for help and they'll put you through the steps. (P10)

While the carers indicated that GPs would be ideally placed to offer information on support services and resources to carers, this study has highlighted that the surfeit of information does not always get to those that need it, or when they need it. Many of the carers indicated that they knew of other carers through support groups etc. who were in much more challenging predicaments than they themselves were. Therefore any information, no matter who provides it, that is able to target 'hard to reach' carers could be of great benefit.

# Informing carers of the need to maintain their own health and wellbeing

As the previous paragraph and other examples have illustrated, carers sometimes need an objective perspective offering 'some fairly strong advice' (P18) on the necessity of addressing their own health and wellness needs. This has implications, not just for the carer, but also for the dyad, because healthier carers are able to maintain the dyad for longer. Our carers have indicated that they are sometimes reluctant to articulate their own health and wellness needs. Although carers want to maintain caring by themselves for as long as possible, they also benefit from seeking support services such as respite at a much earlier juncture in the caring journey (P18, P20, P21).

# CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

While many of the findings of this small study are not new, they do serve to highlight the fact that carers of people with dementia are still experiencing multiple impacts on their own wellness as a result of their caring role. This is despite decades of growth in services aimed at supporting dementia dyads and an increased awareness of dementia amongst health professionals as a result of education and higher prevalence of the illness due to population ageing.

The fact remains that maintaining and supporting carer wellness is both challenging and complicated, especially as every carer's situation is different. Carer wellness is a product of the interaction and impact on the carer of all the dimensions of wellness, and is shaped by the carer's family, their own health and that of the care recipient, as well as a wide range of social and personal circumstances.

This short qualitative study has also suggested areas where carer wellness could be supported and improved. It has highlighted the gaps in knowledge and support that carers currently face. The examples of carers who were able to achieve better wellness outcomes, through their own efforts or through the intercession or intervention of others, demonstrates that there is scope for improving carer wellness. These interventions, while often very personal pleas to the carers from health professionals and other interested parties, to address their wellness needs by taking better care of their health, or accessing support services, could broadly be defined as educational in nature. The carers also articulated that they would benefit from education: education on the resources and support services that are available to them; education on dementia and what to expect; education for family members on the challenges of caring for someone with dementia; and education for GPs and health professionals on how to recognise and support the wellness needs of carers of people with dementia.

# Limitations of this work

While this study had a relatively small number of participants, the data provided by the participants accords with other published material on the experiences of carers of people with dementia. It was originally envisaged that the carers would mostly participate in focus groups, but citing reasons of privacy or an inability to attend a focus group due to caring commitments, only one focus group occurred. However, comments from other interviewees were fed back during the individual interviews to try and replicate the focus group experience and see whether the experiences being relayed were common amongst carers. While the carers offered a considerable diversity of opinions and experiences in their interviews, many of the themes that emerged from the analysis were common. The focus groups with the care workers also served to provide context and to validate the data from the carers.

#### REFERENCES

Alzheimer's Australia 2010, Addressing the Stigma associated with Dementia: (Discussion Paper 2), Alzheimer's Australia, accessed August 2013,

https://nsw.fightdementia.org.au/sites/default/files/2010NSWAddressingStigmaDiscussionPaper2.pdf

Alzheimer's Australia 2011, *Dementia Across Australia: 2011-2050*, Alzheimer's Australia/ Access Economics, accessed 4 June 2012, http://www.fightdementia.org.au/access-economics-reports.aspx.

Alzheimer's Australia, 2009, *Making choices - Future dementia care: projections, problems and preferences*, Alzheimer's Australia/ Access Economics, accessed 4 June 2012, <a href="http://www.fightdementia.org.au/access-economics-reports.aspx">http://www.fightdementia.org.au/access-economics-reports.aspx</a>.

ANCS, 2011, Australian National Carer Strategy Action Plan (2011-2014), Department of Health and Aging, Canberra, accessed 6 June 2012

https://www.dss.gov.au/sites/default/files/documents/10 2012/ncs action plan.pdf

Andrén, S & Elmståhl, S 2005, 'Family caregivers' subjective experiences of satisfaction in dementia care: aspects of burden, subjective health and sense of coherence', *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, Vol. 19, Iss. 2, pp.157-168.

Ashworth, M & Baker, A 2000, 'Time and space: carers' views about respite care', *Health & Social Care in the Community*, Vol. 8, Iss. 1, pp.50-56.

Australian Bureau of Statistics 2009, *Disability, Ageing and Carers, Australia: Summary of Findings, 2009*, Cat. No. 4430.0, Canberra.

Bauer, M, Vedhara, K, Perks, P, Wilcock, G, Lightman, S & Shanks, N, 2000, 'Chronic stress in caregivers of dementia patients is associated with reduced lymphocyte sensitivity to glucocorticords', *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, Vol. 103, Iss. 1, pp. 84-92.

Belle, S, Burgio, L, Burns, R, Coon, D & et al. 2006. 'Enhancing the quality of life of dementia caregivers from different ethnic or racial groups: a randomized, controlled trial', *Annals of Internal Medicine*, Vol.145, No. 10, pp.727-738.

Bond, M & Clark, M 2002, 'Predictors of the decision to yield care of a person with dementia', *Australasian Journal on Ageing*, Vol. 21, Iss. 2, pp.86-91.

Brodaty, H, Green, A & Koschera, A 2003, 'Meta-analysis of psychosocial interventions for caregivers of people with dementia', *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, Vol. 51, Iss. 5, pp.657-664.

Brodaty, H & Donkin, M 2009, 'Family caregivers of people with dementia', *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, Vol. 11, No. 2, pp.217-228.

Browning, C & Kendig, H 2010, 'Cohort profile: the Melbourne longitudinal studies on healthy ageing program, *International Journal of Epidemiology*, doi: 10.1093/ije/dyq137.

Bruen, W & Howe, A 2009, Respite Care for People Living with Dementia: 'It's more than just a short break', Discussion Paper 17, *Alzheimer's Australia*, accessed 28 May 2012 <a href="https://fightdementia.org.au/sites/default/files/20090500">https://fightdementia.org.au/sites/default/files/20090500</a> Nat NP 17RespCarePplLivDem.pdf

Burton L, Newsom, J, Schulz, R, Hirsch, C. & German, P 1997, 'Preventive health behaviors among spousal caregivers', *Preventive Medicine*, Vol. 26, Iss. 2, pp.162-169.

Butcher, H, Holkup, P & Buckwalter, K 2001, 'The experience of caring for a family member with Alzheimer's disease', *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, Vol. 23, No.1, pp.33-55.

Cahill, S & Shapiro, M 1998, 'The only one you neglect is yourself': Health outcomes for carers of spouses or parents with dementia: Do wives and daughter carers differ?', *Journal of Family Studies*, Vol. 4, No. 1, pp.87-101.

Carter, K & Michailow, J, 2012, HammondCare Respite Care Managers, Personal Communication, 22 May 2012, Hammondville.

Castro, C, Wilcox, S, O'Sullivan, P, Baumann, K & King, A 2002, 'An exercise program for women who are caring for relatives with dementia', *Psychosomatic Medicine*, Vol. 64, No. 3, pp.458-468.

Chenoweth, B & Spencer, B 1986, 'Dementia: The experience of family caregivers', *The Gerontologist*, Vol. 26, No. 3, pp.267-272.

Choi, G, Tirrito, T & Mills, F 2008, 'Caregiver's spirituality and its influence on maintaining the elderly and disabled in a home environment', *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, Vol.51, Iss. 3-4, pp.247-259.

Christofoletti, G, Oliani, M, Bucken-Gobbi, L, Gobbi, S, Beinotti, F & Stella, F 2011, 'Physical activity attenuates neuropsychiatric disturbances and caregiver burden in patients with dementia', *Clinics*, Vol. 66, No. 4, pp.613-618.

Covinsky, K, Eng, C, Lui, L, Sands, L, Sehgal, A, Walter, L, Wieland, D, Eleazer, G & Yaffe, K 2001, 'Reduced employment in caregivers of frail elders. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, Vol. 56, Iss. 11, pp.M707-M713.

Creese, J, Bédard, M, Brazil, K & Chambers, L 2008, 'Sleep disturbances in spousal caregivers of individuals with Alzheimer's disease', *International Psychogeriatrics*, Vol. 20, Iss. 1 pp.149-161.

Czaja, S & Rubert, M 2002, 'Telecommunications technology as an aid to family caregivers of persons with dementia', *Psychosomatic Medicine*, Vol. 64, No. 3, pp.469-476.

De la Cuesta, C 2005, 'The craft of care: Family care of relatives with advanced dementia', *Qualitative Health Research*, Vol. 15, No. 7, pp.881-896.

De Vugt, M, Jolles, J, Van Osch, L, Stevens, F, Aalten, P, Lousberg, R & Verhey, F 2006, 'Cognitive functioning in spousal caregivers of dementia patients: findings from the prospective MAASBED study', *Age and Ageing*, Vol. 35, lss. 2, pp.160-166.

Dennis, D, 2008, 'Getting serious about the social determinants of health: new directions for public health workers', *Global Health Promotion*, Vol. 15, No.3, pp.15-20.

Desai, A & Grossberg, G 2011, 'Palliative and end-of-life care in psychogeriatric patients', *Aging Health*, Vol. 7, No. 3, pp.395-408.

Doherty D, 2006, 'Spirituality and dementia', Spirituality and Health International, Vol. 7, Iss. 4, pp.203-210.

Dohner, H, 2006, Family Care of Older People in Europe: Summary of Results of EUROFAMCARE, Cordis conference: Research Benefits for the Ageing Population, Helsinki, accessed 10 June 2012, <a href="http://cordis.europa.eu/life/src/conf-ageing.htm">http://cordis.europa.eu/life/src/conf-ageing.htm</a>.

Draper, B, Poulos, R, Poulos, C & Ehrlich, F 1996, 'Risk factors for stress in elderly caregivers', *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, Vol. 11, pp. Iss. 3, pp.227-231.

Ducharme, F, Lévesque, L, Lachance, L, Kergoat, MJ, Legault, A, Beaudet, L & Zarit, S 2011, "Learning to become a family caregiver" efficacy of an intervention program for caregivers following diagnosis of dementia in a relative', *The Gerontologist*, Vol. 51, Iss. 4, pp.484-494.

Dunn, H 1959, 'High-level wellness for man and society', *American Journal of Public Health and the Nations Health*, Vol. 49, Iss. 6, pp.786-792.

Eagar, K, Owen, A, Williams, K, Westera, A & Marosszeky, N 2007, 'Effective Caring: a synthesis of the international evidence on carer needs and interventions' University of Wollongong, accessed 8 June 2012, <a href="http://ro.uow.edu.au/chsd/27/">http://ro.uow.edu.au/chsd/27/</a>

Eckersley, R 2007, 'Culture, spirituality, religion and health: looking at the big picture', *Medical Journal of Australia*, Vol. 186, No. 10, pp.S54-S56.

Eldh, A & Carlsson, E 2011, 'Seeking a balance between employment and the care of an ageing parent', *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, Vol. 25, Iss. 2, pp.285-293.

Elliott, A, Burgio, L & Decoster, J 2010, 'Enhancing caregiver health: findings from the Resources for Enhancing Alzheimer's Caregiver Health II intervention', *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, Vol. 58, Iss. 1, pp.30-37.

Fengler, A & Goodrich, N 1979, 'Wives of elderly disabled men: The hidden patients', *The Gerontologist*, Vol. 19, pp. No. 2, pp.175-183.

Flint, A 1995, 'Effects of respite care on patients with dementia and their caregivers', *International Psychogeriatrics*, Vol.7, Iss. 4, pp.505-517.

Forbes D, Kloseck, M, Mendelsohn, M, St-Amant, O, Deforge, R & Clark, K 2011,' "Her world gets smaller and smaller with nothing to look forward to": Dimensions of social inclusion and exclusion among rural dementia care networks', Online Journal of Rural Nursing and Health Care, Vol. 11, No. 2, pp.16-26.

Fredman, L, Cauley, J, Satterfield, S, Simonsick, E, Spencer, S, Ayonayon, H, Harris, T & the Health, ABC study group, 2008, 'Caregiving, mortality, and mobility decline: the Health, Aging, and Body Composition (Health ABC) Study', *Archives of Internal Medicine*, Vol. 168, No. 19, pp.2154-2162.

George, L, & Gwyther, L 1986, 'Caregiver well-being: A multidimensional examination of family caregivers of demented adults', *The Gerontologist*, Vol. 26, No. 3, pp.253-259.

Gitlin, L, Winter, L, Corcoran, M, Dennis, M, Schinfeld, S & Hauck, W 2003, ,Effects of the home environmental skill-building program on the caregiver—care recipient dyad: 6-month outcomes from the Philadelphia REACH initiative', *The Gerontologist*, Vol. 43, Iss. 4, pp.532-546.

Glueckauf, R, Jeffers, S, Sharma, D, Massey, A, Davis, W, Wesley, L, Byrd, V, Mcintyre, V, Stine, C & Martin, C 2007, Telephone-based cognitive-behavioral intervention for distressed rural dementia caregivers -- initial findings', *Clinical Gerontologist*, Vol. 31, No. 1, pp.21-41.

Golodetz, A, Evans, R, Heinritz, G. & Gibson, C 1969. 'The care of chronic illness: the responsor role', *Medical Care*, Vol. 7, No. 5, pp.385-394.

Goodrich, C 1997, 'Results of a national survey of state protective services programs: assessing risk and defining victim outcomes', *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, Vol. 9, Iss. 1, pp.69-86.

Gottlieb, B & Johnson, J 2000, 'Respite programs for caregivers of persons with dementia: A review with practice implications', *Aging & Mental Health*, Vol. 4, Iss.2, pp.119-29.

Gusi, N, Prieto, J, Madruga, M, Garcia, J & Gonzalez-Guerrero, J 2009, 'Health-related quality of life and fitness of the caregiver of patient with dementia', *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, Vol. 41, No. 6, pp.1182-1187.

Gwyther, L 2006, 'Spirituality and caring for older family members', *Southern Medical Journal*, Vol. 99, No. 10, pp.1180-1181.

Harmell, A, Chattillion, E, Roepke, S & Mausbach, B 2011, 'A review of the psychobiology of dementia caregiving: a focus on resilience factors', *Current Psychiatry Reports*, Vol.13, No.3, pp.219-224.

Hasselkus, B & Murray, B 2007, 'Everyday occupation, well-being, and identity: The experience of caregivers in families with dementia', *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, Vol. 61, No.1, pp.9-20.

Hettler, W 1976, *The six dimensions of wellness*, National Wellness Institute, accessed 4 June 2012, http://www.nationalwellness.org/?page=Six\_Dimensions

Hirano, A, Suzuki, Y, Kuzuya, M, Onishi, J, Hasegawa, J, Ban, N & Umegaki, H 2011, 'Association between the caregiver's burden and physical activity in community-dwelling caregivers of dementia patients', *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, Vol. 52, Iss. 3, pp.295-298.

Hitchcock, K 2015, Quarterly Essay 57: Dear life: on caring for the elderly, Vol. 57, Black Inc.

Hudson, P, Remedios, C & Thomas, K 2010, 'A systematic review of psychosocial interventions for family carers of palliative care patients', *BMC Palliative Care*, Vol.9, Iss. 17, pp.1-6.

Jackson, C, 2007, 'Supplement unbalanced: letter to the editor', *Medical Journal of Australia*, Vol. 187, No. 7, pp.423-4.

Janevic, M & Connell, C 2004, 'Exploring self-care among dementia caregivers: the role of perceived support in accomplishing exercise goal', *Journal of Women & Aging*, Vol.16, Iss. 1-2, p.71-86.

Jogerst, G, Dawson, J, Hartz, A, Ely, J & Schweitzer, L 2000, 'Community characteristics associated with elder abuse', *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, Vol. 48, No. 5, pp.513-518.

Jolley, D, Benbow, S, Grizzell, M, Willmott, S, Bawn, S & Kingston, P 2010, 'Spirituality and faith in dementia', *Dementia*, Vol. 9, No. 3, pp.311-325.

Jones, C, Edwards, R & Hounsome, B 2012, 'A systematic review of the cost-effectiveness of interventions for supporting informal caregivers of people with dementia residing in the community', *International Psychogeriatrics*, Vol. 24, Iss. 1, pp.6-18.

Jorgensen, D, Parsons, M, Jacobs, S & Arskey H 2010, New Zealand informal caregivers and their unmet needs, *The New Zealand Medical Journal*, accessed 31 May 2012 <a href="https://www.nzma.org.nz/journal/read-the-journal/all-issues/2010-2019/2010/vol-123-no-1317/article-jorgensen">https://www.nzma.org.nz/journal/read-the-journal/all-issues/2010-2019/2010/vol-123-no-1317/article-jorgensen</a>

King, A, Baumann, K, O'Sullivan, P, Wilcox, S & Castro, C 2002, 'Effects of moderate-intensity exercise on physiological, behavioral, and emotional responses to family caregiving', *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, Vol. 57, Iss. 1, pp.M26-M36.

Koenig, H 2007, 'Religion, spirituality and medicine in Australia: research and clinical practice', *Medical Journal of Australia*, Vol. 186, No. 10, pp.S45-S46.

Larson, J 1999, 'The Conceptualization of Health', Medical Care Research and Review, Vol. 56, No. 2, pp.123-136.

Lawton, j 2003, 'Lay experiences of health and illness: past research and future agendas', *Sociology of Health & Illness*, Vol. 25, Iss. 3, pp.23-40.

Lee, H & Cameron, M 2004, 'Respite care for people with dementia and their carers', *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, Issue 1. Art. No.: CD004396. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004396.pub2.

Leggett, A, Zarit, S, Taylor, A & Galvin, J 2011, 'Stress and burden among caregivers of patients with Lewy body dementia', *The Gerontologist*, Vol.51, Iss. 1, pp.76-85.

Lund, D, Utz, R, Caserta, M & Wright, S 2009, 'Examining what caregivers do during respite time to make respite more effective', *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, Vol. 28, No.1, pp.109-131.

Marmot, M 2005, *The Status Syndrome: How Social Standing Affects our Health and Longevity*, Bloomsbury, London.

Marziali, E, McCleary, L & Streiner, D 2010, 'Evaluation of an assessment battery for estimating dementia caregiver needs for health and social care services', *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease and Other Dementias*, Vol. 25, No. 5, pp.446-454.

Mausbach, B, Patterson, T, Rabinowitz, Y, Grant, I & Schulz, R 2007, 'Depression and distress predict time to cardiovascular disease in dementia caregivers', *Health Psychology*, Vol. 26, pp.539-544.

McCurry, S, Vitiello, M, Gibbons, L, Logsdon, R & Teri, L 2006, 'Factors associated with caregiver reports of sleep disturbances in persons with dementia', *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, Vol. 14, Iss. 2, pp.112-120.

Mestheneos, E & Triantafillou, J 2005, Supporting Family Carers of Older People in Europe – the Pan-European Background, Eurofamcare, accessed 4 June 2012 <a href="http://www.uke.de/extern/eurofamcare/documents/nabares/peubare\_a4.pdf">http://www.uke.de/extern/eurofamcare/documents/nabares/peubare\_a4.pdf</a>.

Miller, L, Lewis, M, Williamson, G, Lance, C, Dooley, W, Schulz, R & Weiner, M 2006, 'Caregiver cognitive status and potentially harmful caregiver behavior', *Aging & Mental Health*, Vol. 10, Iss 2, pp.125-133.

Mittelman, M, Haley, W, Clay, O & Roth, D 2006, 'Improving caregiver well-being delays nursing home placement of patients with Alzheimer's disease', *Neurology*, Vol. 67, No. 9, pp.1592-1599.

Myers, J & Sweeney T 2004, 'The Indivisible Self: An Evidence-Based Model of Wellness', *Journal of Individual Psychology*, Vol.60, Iss. 3, pp.234-245.

Netto, N, Jenny, G & Philip, Y. 2009, 'Growing and gaining through caring for a loved one with dementia', *Dementia*, Vol. 8, No. 2, pp.245-261.

O'Donnell M 2009, 'Definition of health promotion 2.0: Embracing passion, enhancing motivation recognizing dynamic balance, and creating opportunities', *American Journal of Health Promotion*, Vol. 24, Iss. 1, p. iv.

O'Dwyer S T, Moyle W, Zimmer-Gembeck M, De Leo D. "Suicidal Ideation in Family Carers of People with Dementia: A Pilot Study." *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* (2013), Vol. 28 (11), pp1182-8.

O'Rourke, N, Cappeliez, P & Guindon, S 2003, 'Depressive symptoms and physical health of caregivers of persons with cognitive impairment, *Journal of Aging and Health*, Vol. 15, No. pp.688-712.

O'Shea, E 2003, 'Costs and consequences for the carers of people with dementia in Ireland. *Dementia*, Vol. 2, No. 2, pp.201-219.

Ory M, Hoffman R, Yee, J, Tennstedt, S. & Schulz, R 1999, 'Prevalence and Impact of Caregiving: A detailed comparison between dementia and nondementia caregivers', *The Gerontologist*, Vol. 39, No. 2, pp.177-186.

Papastavrou, E, Kalokerinou, A, Papacostas, S, Tsangari, H & Sourtzi, P 2007, 'Caring for a relative with dementia: family caregiver burden', *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, Vol.58, Iss. 5, pp.446-457.

Parker, D, Mills, S & Abbey, J 2008, 'Effectiveness of interventions that assist caregivers to support people with dementia living in the community: A systematic review', *International Journal of Evidence-Based Healthcare*, Vol. 6, Iss. 2, pp.137-172.

Peacock, S, Forbes, D, Markle-Reid, M, Hawranik, P, Morgan, D, Jansen, L, Leipert, B & Henderson, S 2010. 'The positive aspects of the caregiving journey with dementia: Using a strengths-based perspective to reveal opportunities', *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, Vol. 29, No.5, pp.640-659.

Penman, J, Oliver, M & Harrington, A 2006, 'Spirituality and spiritual engagement as perceived by palliative care clients and caregivers', *Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing*, Vol. 26, No. 4, pp.29-35.

Perren, S, Schmid, R & Wettstein, A 2006, 'Caregivers' adaptation to change: The impact of increasing impairment of persons suffering from dementia on their caregivers' subjective well-being', *Aging & Mental Health*, Vol. 10, Iss. 5, pp.539-548.

Phillips, J, Pond, CD, Paterson, NE, Howell, C, Shell, A, Stocks, NP, Goode, SM & Marley. JE 2012. 'Difficulties in Disclosing the Diagnosis of Dementia: A Qualitative Study in General Practice', *British Journal of General Practice* Vol. 62, Iss. 601: e546-e53.

Pillemer, K & Suitor, J 1992, 'Violence and violent feelings: what causes them among family caregivers?', *Journal of Gerontology*, Vol. 47, Iss. 4, pp.S165-S172.

Pinquat, M & Sorensen, S 2003, 'Associations of stressors and uplifts of caregiving with caregiver burden and depressive mood: a meta-analysis', *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, Vol. 58, Iss. 2, pp.112-128.

Pinquart, M & Sörensen, S 2006, 'Helping caregivers of persons with dementia: which interventions work and how large are their effects?', *International Psychogeriatrics*, Vol.18, Iss. 4, pp.577-595.

Pinquart, M & Sorensen, S 2007, 'Correlates of physical health of informal caregivers: a metaanalysis' *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, Vol. 62, Iss.2, pp.126-137.

Pond, C. Dimity, Karen E. Mate, Jill Phillips, Nigel P. Stocks, Parker J. Magin, Natasha Weaver, and Henry Brodaty. "Predictors of Agreement between General Practitioner Detection of Dementia and the Revised Cambridge Cognitive Assessment (Camcog-R)." International Psychogeriatrics 25, no. 10 (2013): 1639-47.

Powell, J, Chiu, T & Eysenbach, G 2008, 'A systematic review of networked technologies supporting carers of people with dementia', *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare*, Vol. 14, No.3, pp.154-156.

Quayhagen, MP, Quayhagen, M, Corbeil, R, Hendrix, R, Jackson, J, Snyder, L & Bower, D 2000, 'Coping with dementia: evaluation of four nonpharmacologic interventions', *International Psychogeriatrics*, Vol. 12, Iss. 2, pp.249-265.

Rabinowitz, Y, Mausbach, B & Gallagher-Thompson, D 2009, 'Self-efficacy as a moderator of the relationship between care recipient memory and behavioral problems and caregiver depression in female dementia caregivers', *Alzheimer Disease and Associated Disorders*, Vol. 23, Iss. 4, pp.389-94.

Robison, J, Fortinsky, R, Kleppinger, A, Shugrue, N & Porter, M 2009, 'A broader view of family caregiving: effects of caregiving and caregiver conditions on depressive symptoms, health, work, and social isolation', *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, Vol. 64B, Iss. 6, pp.788-798.

Roepke, S, Mausbach, B, Patterson, T, Von Känel, R, Ancoli-Israel, S, Harmell, A, Dimsdale, J, Aschbacher, K, Mills, P, Ziegler, M, Allison, M & Grant, I 2011, 'Effects of Alzheimer caregiving on allostatic Load. *Journal of Health Psychology*, Vol. 16, No.1, pp.58-69.

Rubin, R & White-Means, S 2009, 'Informal caregiving: dilemmas of sandwiched caregivers', *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, Vol. 30, No. 3, pp.252-267.

Russell, R. 2001, 'In sickness and in health: A qualitative study of elderly men who care for wives with dementia', *Journal of Aging Studies*, Vol.15, Iss. 4, pp. 351-367.

Sabat, S 2009, 'Existential phenomenology and the quality of life of carers and care recipients: A case study', *Dementia*, Vol. 8, No. 2, pp.163-166.

Savage, S & Bailey, S 2004, 'The impact of caring on caregivers' mental health: a review of the literature', *Australian Health Review*, Vol. 27, No. 1, pp.111-117.

Schacke, C & Zank, S 2006, 'Measuring the effectiveness of adult day care as a facility to support family caregivers of dementia patients', *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, Vol.25, No. 1, pp.65-81.

Schoenmakers, B, Buntinx, F & De Lepeleire, J 2009, 'The relation between care giving and the mental health of caregivers of demented relatives: A cross-sectional study', *European Journal of General Practice*, Vol.15, No.2, pp. 99-106.

Schubert, C, Boustani, M, Callahan, C, Perkins, A, Hui, S & Hendrie, H 2008, 'Acute care utilization by dementia caregivers within urban primary care practices', *Journal of general internal medicine*, Vol. 23, No. 11, pp.1736-1740.

Schulz, R & Sherwood, P 2008, 'Physical and mental health effects of family caregiving', *Journal of Social Work Education*, Vol. 44, Supp. 3. pp.105-113.

Selwood, A, Johnston, K, Katona, C, Lyketsos, C & Livingston, G 2007, 'Systematic review of the effect of psychological interventions on family caregivers of people with dementia', *Journal of Affective Disorders*, Vol.101, Iss. 1, pp. 75-89.

Sloan, R, Bagiella, E & Powell, T 1999, 'Religion, spirituality, and medicine', Lancet, Vol. 353, Iss. 9153, pp.664-667.

Smits, C, De Lange, J, Dröes, RM, Meiland, F, Vernooij-Dassen, M & Pot, A 2007, 'Effects of combined intervention programmes for people with dementia living at home and their caregivers: a systematic review', *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, Vol. 22, Iss. 12, pp.1181-1193.

Sorensen, S & Conwell, Y 2011, 'Issues in dementia caregiving: effects on mental and physical health, intervention strategies, and research needs', *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, Vol. 19, Iss. 6, pp.491-6.

Stirling, C, Andrews, S, Croft, T, Vickers, J, Turner, P & Robinson, A 2010, 'Measuring dementia carers' unmet need for services - an exploratory mixed method study', *BMC Health Services Research*, Vol. 10, Iss, 122, pp.1-10.

Stuckey, J 2003, 'Faith, aging, and dementia', *Dementia*, Vol. 2, No. 3, pp. 337-352. Thinnes, A & Padilla, R 2011, 'Effect of educational and supportive strategies on the ability of caregivers of people with dementia to maintain participation in that role', *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, Vol. 65, No. 5, pp.541-549.

Timio, M, Saronio, P, Venanzi, V, Gentili, S, Verdura, C & Timio, F 1999, 'Blood pressure in nuns in a secluded order: A 30-year follow-up', *Mineral and Electrolyte Metabolism*, Vol. 25, No. 1, pp.73-79.

Uchino, B 2006, 'Social support and health: a review of physiological processes potentially underlying links to disease outcomes', *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, Vol.29, No.4, pp.377-387.

Van Mierlo, L, Meiland, F, Van der Roest, H & Dröes, RM 2012, 'Personalised caregiver support: effectiveness of psychosocial interventions in subgroups of caregivers of people with dementia', *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, Vol. 27, Iss. 1, pp.1-14.

Vernooij-Dassen, M & Downs, M 2011, 'Cognitive and behavioural interventions for carers of people with dementia (Protocol)'. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, Issue 2. Art. No.: CD005318. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD005318.

Vitaliano, P, Murphy, M, Young, H, Echeverria, D & Borson, S 2011, 'Does caring for a spouse with dementia promote cognitive decline? a hypothesis and proposed mechanisms', *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, Vol. 59, Iss. 5, pp.900-908.

Von Känel, R, Mausbach, B, Dimsdale, J, Mills, P, Patterson, T, Ancoli-Israel, S, Ziegler, M, Roepke, S, Harmell, A, Allison, M & Grant, L 2010, 'Regular physical activity moderates cardiometabolic risk in Alzheimer's caregivers', *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, Vol. 43, No.1, pp.181-189.

Waite, A, Bebbington, P, Skelton-Robinson, M & Orrell, M 2004, 'Social factors and depression in carers of people with dementia', *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, Vol. 19, Iss. 6, pp.582-587.

Walters, A, Oyebode, J & Riley, G 2010, 'The dynamics of continuity and discontinuity for women caring for a spouse with dementia', *Dementia*, Vol. 9, No. 2, pp.169-189.

Wang, Y, Shyu, Y, Chen, M & Yang, P 2011, 'Reconciling work and family caregiving among adult-child family caregivers of older people with dementia: effects on role strain and depressive symptoms', *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, Vol. 67, Iss. 4, pp.829-840.

Ward, R, Vass, A, Aggarwal, N, Garfield, C & Cybyk, B 2005. 'A kiss is still a kiss?', Dementia, Vol. 4, Iss. 1, pp.49-72.

WFMH (undated), Caring For The Caregiver: Why Your Mental Health Matters When You Are Caring For Others, World Federation for Mental Health, accessed 31 May 2012, <a href="http://wfmh.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/11/WFMH">http://wfmh.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/11/WFMH</a> GIAS CaringForTheCaregiver.pdf

WHO, 1948, *Constitution of the World Health Organization*, World Health Organization, accessed 4 June 2012, <a href="http://www.who.int/governance/eb/who">http://www.who.int/governance/eb/who</a> constitution en.pdf.

WHO, 1986, *The Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion*, World Health Organization, accessed 4 June 2012, <a href="http://www.who.int/healthpromotion/conferences/previous/ottawa/en/">http://www.who.int/healthpromotion/conferences/previous/ottawa/en/</a>

WHO, 2003, *Social Determinants of Health: The Solid Facts*, Second Edition, World Health Organization, accessed 31 May 2011, <a href="http://www.euro.who.int/">http://www.euro.who.int/</a> <a href="http://www.euro.who.int/">data/assets/pdf</a> file/0005/98438/e81384.pdf</a>.

WHO, 2008, Closing the gap in a generation: Health equity through action on the social determinants of health, Commission on the social determinants of health, World Health Organization, accessed 31 May 2011, http://www.who.int/social\_determinants/thecommission/finalreport/en/index.html.

Wilkinson R & Pickett K, 2009, The Spirit Level: Why More Equal Societies Almost Always Do Better, Allen Lane, London.

Williams V, Bishop-Fitzpatrick L, Lane J, Gwyther L, Ballard E, Vendittelli A, Hutchins T & Williams R, 2010, 'Videobased coping skills to reduce health risk and improve psychological and physical well-being in Alzheimer's disease family caregivers', *Psychosomatic Medicine*, Vol. 72, No. 9, pp.897-904.

Xie J, Brayne C & Matthews F, 2008, 'Survival times in people with dementia: analysis from population based cohort study with 14 year follow-up', *British Medical Journal*, Vol. 336, No. 7638, pp.258-262.

# **APPENDIX**

Participant Information Sheet and Consent



Approval No Ref#2012-7-11

#### PARTICIPANT INFORMATION STATEMENT AND CONSENT FORM

The University of New South Wales (School of Public Health and Community Medicine), HammondCare, Queensland University of Technology, the Consumer Dementia Research Network and the Dementia Collaborative Research Centres are undertaking this project entitled: "Beyond respite: designing effective wellness programs for carers"

You (i.e. the research participant) are invited to participate in a study of the wellbeing needs and limitations of carers of people with dementia. We (i.e. the researchers) hope to learn about what carers want and need to improve their wellbeing. You were selected as a possible participant in this study because you have current or previous experience as a caregiver of a person with dementia.

#### Description of study and risks

If you decide to participate, we will invite you to attend a focus group or a one-on-one interview at the HammondCare Clinical Training Centre at HammondCare or at another suitable location. At this focus group or interview, a moderator will lead discussion with you and other carers on topics such as the concept of wellbeing, activities that may improve wellbeing, how you feel about your own wellbeing, what wellbeing activities you undertake and what factors prevent you from undertaking wellbeing activities.

Participation in the focus groups or interview may involve you discussing your own caring experiences. This may be difficult for you. The moderator is able to stop the discussion if you find this difficult and do not want to continue the discussion. As participation in this project is voluntary, you are not obliged to participate nor are obliged to contribute any information that will upset you.

During the focus group or interview the moderator will take written notes of the discussion. In addition, we will also make an audio recording of the discussion for later analysis. You will not be identified by name in either the written notes or audio recordings.

We expect that each focus group will be no more than two hours in total. A number of focus groups will be scheduled at different times. Therefore, you are welcome to select a group that is the most convenient for you to attend. We also understand that you might like to participate in our study but that it may not be easy for you to attend a focus group in person. Therefore, we will also have some teleconference focus group sessions or one-on-one in person or teleconference interviews available, so that you can participate via a local call using your home phone.

We hope that conducting these focus groups and interviews gives us a clearer understanding of the needs and limitations experienced by carers of people with dementia. This will help us design accessible and suitable wellbeing strategies for carers, like you. Such strategies may or may not directly benefit you but the strategies may provide benefit to other carers in a similar situation to yourself. We cannot and do not guarantee or promise that you will receive any benefits from this study.

### Confidentiality and disclosure of information

Any information that is obtained in connection with this study and that can be identified to you will remain confidential and will be disclosed only with your permission, except as required by law. If you give us your permission by signing this document, we plan to discuss and publish the results at academic conferences and in academic journal publications. In any publication, information will be provided in such a way that you cannot be identified.

### Recompense to participants

We appreciate that it may be difficult and/or costly for you to attend our focus groups or interviews and participate in this project. To minimise this burden for participants, we are able to provide reimbursement of actual travel costs (\$70.00 per caregiver per focus group or interview) loss of wages or other expenses to those individuals who participate in our focus groups and interviews. There is some capacity for assistance with respite for the person you care for while participating in this study. Reimbursement will be made via cheque. You will need to include your postal details at the bottom of page 3 of this form.

#### **Complaints**

Complaints may be directed to the Ethics Secretariat, The University of New South Wales, SYDNEY 2052 AUSTRALIA (phone 9385 4234, fax 9385 6648, email <a href="mailto:ethics.sec@unsw.edu.au">ethics.sec@unsw.edu.au</a>). Any complaint you make will be investigated promptly and you will be informed out the outcome.

#### Feedback to participants

The researchers would be happy to provide participants with any published material that emerges from this project. Please indicate whether you are interested in receiving such material on the attached consent form.

#### Your consent

Your decision whether or not to participate will not prejudice your future relations with the University of New South Wales, HammondCare, Queensland University of Technology, the Consumer Dementia Research Network and the Dementia Collaborative Research Centres. If you decide to participate, you are free to withdraw your consent and to discontinue participation at any time without prejudice.

If you have any questions, please feel free to ask us. If you have any additional questions later, Associate Professor Chris Poulos (02) 8788 3900 will be happy to answer them.

You will be given a copy of this form to keep.



# PARTICIPANT INFORMATION STATEMENT AND CONSENT FORM (Continued)

The University of New South Wales (School of Public Health and Community Medicine), HammondCare, Queensland University of Technology, the Consumer Dementia Research Network and the Dementia Collaborative Research Centres are undertaking this project entitled:

"Beyond respite: designing effective wellness programs for carers"

You are making a decision whether or not to participate. Your signature indicates that, having read the information provided above, you have decided to participate.

Signature of Research Participant	Signature of Witness	
(Please PRINT name)	(Please PRINT name)	
Date	Nature of Witness	
$\square$ Yes, I would like to receive any published material to emerge from this project		
Please email me at this address:		
Or mail to this address:		
Postal address for reimbursement:		



# **Revocation of Consent Form**

The University of New South Wales (School of Public Health and Community Medicine), HammondCare, Queensland University of Technology, the Consumer Dementia Research Network and the Dementia Collaborative Research Centres are undertaking this project entitled:

"Beyond respite: designing effective wellness programs for carers"

I hereby wish to **WITHDRAW** my consent to participate in the research proposal described above and understand that such withdrawal **WILL NOT** jeopardise any treatment or my relationship with the University of New South Wales, HammondCare, Queensland University of Technology, the Consumer Dementia Research Network and the Dementia Collaborative Research Centres.

Signature	Date
Please PRINT Name	

The section for Revocation of Consent should be forwarded to: Associate Professor Christopher Poulos, HammondCare Clinical Training Centre, 9 Judd Avenue, Hammondville NSW 2170.